

Wasserstein geometry and Ricci curvature bounds for Poisson spaces

Lorenzo Dello Schiavo, Ronan Herry, Kohei Suzuki

▶ To cite this version:

Lorenzo Dello Schiavo, Ronan Herry, Kohei Suzuki. Wasserstein geometry and Ricci curvature bounds for Poisson spaces. 2024. hal-04379646

HAL Id: hal-04379646

https://hal.science/hal-04379646

Preprint submitted on 8 Jan 2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers.

L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Wasserstein geometry and Ricci curvature bounds for Poisson spaces

LORENZO DELLO SCHIAVO¹, RONAN HERRY², KOHEI SUZUKI³

¹Institute of Science and Technology Austria
Am Campus 1, 3400 Klosterneuburg, Austria
lorenzo.delloschiavo@ist.ac.at

²IRMAR, Université de Rennes 1

263 avenue du Général Leclerc, 35042 Rennes Cedex
ronan.herry@univ-rennes1.fr

³Department of Mathematical Science, Durham University,
Science Laboratories, South Road, DH1 3LE, United Kingdom
kohei.suzuki@durham.ac.uk

March 27, 2023

Abstract

Let Υ be the configuration space over a complete and separable metric base space, endowed with the Poisson measure π . We study the geometry of Υ from the point of view of optimal transport and Ricci-lower bounds. To do so, we define a formal Riemannian structure on $\mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, the space of probability measures over Υ with finite first moment, and we construct an extended distance \mathscr{W} on $\mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. The distance \mathscr{W} corresponds, in our setting, to the Benamou–Brenier variational formulation of the Wasserstein distance. Our main technical tool is a non-local continuity equation defined via the difference operator on the Poisson space. We show that the closure of the domain of the relative entropy is a complete geodesic space, when endowed with \mathscr{W} . We establish non-local infinite-dimensional analogues of results regarding the geometry of the Wasserstein space over a metric measure space with synthetic Ricci curvature bounded below. In particular, we obtain that:

- the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group is the gradient flow of the relative entropy;
- the Poisson space has a Ricci curvature, in the entropic sense, bounded below by 1;
- the distance \mathcal{W} satisfies an HWI inequality.

Contents

1	Intr	roduction	3
	1.1	Main results	3
	1.2	Summary of our construction	4
	1.3	Motivation	4
	1.4	Related works	5
		1.4.1 Entropic Ricci curvature for Markov chains and jump processes	5
		1.4.2 Other transportation costs for the configuration space	5
		1.4.3 Other geometries on the configuration space	5
		1.4.4 Curvature of the Wiener space	6
	1.5	Outline of the paper	6
		Acknowledgments	

2	Top	ological results for point processes	7		
	2.1^{-}	Topological preliminaries for spaces of functions and measures	7		
		2.1.1 The weak topology	7		
		2.1.2 The vague topology	8		
		2.1.3 Topological properties of the weak and vague topology	8		
	2.2	Point processes, intensity measures, Campbell measures, Laplace transforms	9		
	2.3	The weak convergence on $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$	9		
	2.4	Locally integrable point processes	10		
3	Disc	crete operators and the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck dynamics	15		
	3.1	Mehler's formula, difference operator, divergence of a function	15		
	3.2	Sobolev spaces	16		
	3.3	Generator of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group	16		
	3.4	Relative entropy	16		
	3.5	Fisher information	17		
4	Con	ntinuity equation	20		
	4.1	Examples of solutions to the continuity equation	21		
	4.2	Extending the notion of solutions	22		
		4.2.1 The algebra of local sets in Υ	22		
		4.2.2 The topology of \mathcal{H} and $\mathcal{C}^1_T(\mathcal{H})$	23		
		4.2.3 The continuity equation holds on $\mathscr{C}_T^1(\mathscr{H})$	23		
	4.3	Properties of the continuity equation	24		
		4.3.1 The intensity measure along the continuity equation	25		
		4.3.2 Existence of continuous solutions	25		
		4.3.3 The relative entropy along the continuity equation	26		
5	Syn	thetic Ricci curvature bounds on the Poisson space	30		
	5.1	A variational distance on the Poisson space	30		
		5.1.1 The Lagrangian functional	30		
		5.1.2 The action functional	32		
		5.1.3 The variational distance end the entropic costs	34		
	5.2	The geometry of $(\mathfrak{D}$ om $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{W})$	36		
		5.2.1 The metric space $(\mathfrak{D}$ om $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{W})$	36		
		5.2.2 Evolution variation inequality and entropic curvature bounds	38		
6	App	pendix	42		
Bi	Bibliography				

1 Introduction

The theory of optimal transportation, and in particular the *Wasserstein geometry*, plays a prominent role in the study of the geometry of metric measure spaces and of functional inequalities on them. For instance, the seminal contributions [Stu06; LV09; AGS14b] establish a synthetic theory of Ricci curvature lower bounds for metric measure spaces, subsuming and extending the classical theory on smooth Riemannian manifolds; see, for instance, [Vil09, Part III] for a broad introduction to this topic.

Later developments extend this approach to various settings, including finite spaces equipped with a discrete distance. In this case, [Maa11; Mie13] provide a fundamental intuition regarding the generalization of the Benamou–Brenier dynamical formulation of the W_2 transport distance to discrete spaces, where there is no geodesic associated with W_2 .

Following the above line of research, in this paper we develop a Wasserstein geometry on configuration spaces, which are prototypical infinite-dimensional non-local spaces. In particular, our work establishes that the configuration sapce equipped with the Poisson measure has Ricci curvature bounded from below by 1, in a synthetic sense.

1.1 Main results

The configuration space Υ over a metric space X is the set of non-negative Borel measures on X that are integer-valued on balls. Provided X is equipped with a σ -finite measure m, the Poisson measure π with intensity m, e.g. [LP18, Ch. 3], is a canonical reference probability measure on Υ . In this paper, we construct a distance \mathcal{W} on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, the space of probability measures over Υ with finite first moment (see Section 2.4 for definitions). The geometric properties of $(\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon), \mathcal{W})$ account for synthetic Ricci-curvature lower bounds associated with (Υ, π) . To state our result, we consider the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group $\mathsf{P} = \{\mathsf{P}_t : t \geq 0\}$ which plays the role of the heat semi-group in our setting, as well as its dual semi-group $\mathsf{P}^\star = \{\mathsf{P}_t^\star : t \geq 0\}$ acting on measures (see Section 3 for definitions and details). Let us also write $\mathcal{H}(\cdot \mid \pi)$ for the relative entropy with respect to π , and \mathfrak{D} om $\mathcal{H} := \{\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon) : \mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) < \infty\}$.

Theorem. The distance W satisfies the following properties:

- (Theorem 5.15) the space $(\mathcal{P}_1(Y), \mathcal{W})$ is a complete geodesic extended-metric space.
- (Theorem 5.17) W satisfies the Talagrand inequality

$$W^2(\mu, \pi) \le \mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi), \qquad \mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon).$$

Furthermore, the non-extended metric space (\mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} , \mathcal{W}) captures the Ricci-curvature lower bounds of (Υ, π) in the following sense:

• (Theorem 5.26) The dual semi-group P^* exponentially contracts $\mathcal W$ with rate 1:

$$\mathcal{W}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu_0,\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu_1) \leq \mathrm{e}^{-t} \,\, \mathcal{W}(\mu_0,\mu_1), \qquad t \geq 0, \qquad \mu_0,\, \mu_1 \, \mathfrak{D}\mathrm{om} \, \mathcal{H} \,.$$

• (Theorem 5.27) The Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group satisfies an Evolution Variation Inequality

$$(\text{EVI}) \ \mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\mu \mid \pi) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathsf{d}}{\mathsf{d}s}\mathcal{W}^2(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\mu,\xi) + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{W}^2(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\mu,\xi) \leq \mathcal{H}(\xi \mid \pi), \qquad s \geq 0, \qquad \mu,\, \xi \in \mathfrak{D}\text{om}\,\mathcal{H}\,.$$

- (Theorem 5.28) The relative entropy is 1-geodesically convex on \mathfrak{D} om \mathfrak{H} with respect to \mathcal{W} .
- (Theorem 5.30) The relative entropy \mathcal{H} , the distance \mathcal{W} , and the Fisher information I satisfy the HWI inequality

$$\mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) \leq \mathcal{W}(\mu, \pi) \sqrt{\mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi)} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{W}^2(\mu, \pi), \qquad \mu \in \mathfrak{D} \text{om } \mathcal{H}.$$

Remark 1.1. On manifolds, the contraction of the heat semi-group with respect to the Wasserstein distance, the convexity of the relative entropy with respect to Wasserstein geodesic, and the EVI-gradient flow are all equivalent to have a Ricci curvature bounded from below. They do not coincide in our infinite-dimensional non-local setting.

1.2 Summary of our construction

We construct the distance \mathcal{W} on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, the space of all probability measures on Υ with locally finite intensity (see Definition 2.9 below). The *discrete difference operator* on functions $F: \Upsilon \to \mathbb{R}$ is

$$\mathsf{D}F: \Upsilon \times X \ni (\eta, x) \mapsto \mathsf{D}_x F(\eta) \coloneqq F(\eta + \delta_x) - F(\eta),$$

and we denote by D^* its formal adjoint, called *Skorokhod divergence*.

On $\mathcal{P}_1(\varUpsilon)$, we consider a formal Riemannian structure induced by D* and by the Poisson measure π , together with the corresponding intrinsic distance à la Benamou–Brenier. Precisely, for a curve $\bar{\mu} = \{\mu_t : t \in [0,1]\}$ of absolutely continuous measures with $\mu_t = \rho_t \pi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\varUpsilon)$, $t \in [0,1]$, and a curve of tangent vectors $\bar{w} = \{w_t : t \in [0,1]\}$ with $w_t \in L^1(\pi \otimes m)$, we informally say that the pair $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{w})$ is a solution to the continuity equation if

$$\partial_t \rho_t + \mathsf{D}^{\star}(w_t \hat{\rho}_t) = 0, \qquad t \in [0, 1].$$

Here $\hat{\rho}_t$ is a tangent vector built from ρ_t , accounting for the non-locality of D (see below for precise definitions). We endow $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ with the *dynamical transport distance* \mathcal{W} defined by

$$\mathcal{W}^2(\mu_0, \mu_1) = \inf \int_0^1 ||w_t||_{\mu_t}^2 dt, \qquad \mu_0, \mu_1 \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon),$$

where the infimum runs over all solutions $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{w})$ to (1.1) with $\bar{\mu}$ joining μ_0 to μ_1 , and where we let

$$||w||_{\mu}^2 := \int |w(\eta, x)|^2 \hat{\rho}(\eta, x) \pi(\mathrm{d}\eta) m(\mathrm{d}x).$$

This distance \mathcal{W} is *extended*, meaning that it may take the value $+\infty$. However, in view of the Talagrand inequality, it is finite on \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} . Restricting our attention to the \mathcal{W} -closure $\mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon)$ of the domain of the relative entropy, we see that $(\mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon), \mathcal{W})$ is a complete non-extended geodesic space. We actually esyablish our functional inequalities on $\mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon)$.

1.3 Motivation

Developing a theory of optimal transport in the setting of the Poisson space (Υ, π) , and understanding the *curvature* of this space from the point of view of the theory of synthetic Ricci curvature bounds serve as our main guidelines. Classically, the theory of synthetic Ricci curvature bounds comes in two flavours:

(i) The Bakry–Émery theory [BÉ85; BGL14], also referred to as the *Eulerian formalism*, is concerned with a Markov semi-group $P = (P_t)_{t \ge 0}$. This theory characterizes Ricci-curvature lower bounds by a convexity-type inequality of the relative entropy along the semi-group. For diffusion semigroups, this convexity property is a consequence of the celebrated sub-commutation inequality between the semi-group and the associated carré du champ operator. In the case of the Poisson space, the canonical Markov semi-group is the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group and it is known that it satisfies a Bakry–Émery [Las16, Lem. 6]. Namely, we have that $DP_t = e^{-t} P_t D$. However, due to the non-diffusive nature of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group on the Poisson space, it is rather difficult to draw consequences of this property in this case. Nevertheless, [Cha04] uses the Bakry–Émery commutation in order to derive a modified logarithmic Sobolev inequality for the Poisson measure (first obtained by [Wu00] with different methods).

(ii) The Lott–Sturm–Villani theory [Stu06; LV09; AGS14b], also referred to as the *Lagrangian formalism*, is concerned with a metric measure space. It characterizes Ricci-curvature lower bounds by a convexity-type inequality of the relative entropy along the geodesics of optimal transport. Since there is no canonical distance on the configuration space, this far-reaching theory simply does not apply. The absence of a canonical distance is a typical feature of infinite-dimensional spaces.

Despite several works (see below) extending the Lagrangian side of the theory for non-diffusive semi-groups or discrete spaces, a generalization of those techniques to non-local infinite-dimensional spaces, such as the configuration space, have so far remained out of reach. Our work tackles this issue and provides foundational tools for the development of a Wasserstein geometry and theory of Ricci curvature bounds for point processes on general state spaces with no assigned geometry.

1.4 Related works

1.4.1 Entropic Ricci curvature for Markov chains and jump processes

[Maa11; Mie13] and the subsequent works [EM12; FM16] initiated the study of optimal transport and Ricci-curvature bounds for non-local operators. More precisely, they construct a transport distance, based on a non-local continuity equation, and study related functional inequalities for finite Markov chains. This approach is partially generalized to jump processes on \mathbb{R}^n in [Erb14].

In particular, the idea of using an analogue of the Benamou–Brenier formulation involving a discrete continuity equation goes back to [Maa11], while our definition of the Lagrangian, and the formulation of the continuity equation through a couple $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ is an adaptation to the Poisson setting of the ones in [DNS09] generalizing the Benamou–Brenier formula in a continuous setting, and in [Erb14] for jump processes on \mathbb{R}^d . In the case of finite Markov chains on some space E, [Maa11] shows that the interior of $\mathcal{P}(E)$ endowed with \mathcal{W} is a Riemannian manifold. In this spirit, Corollary 5.20 identifies a non-trivial component of $\mathcal{P}_1(Y)$ on which \mathcal{W} is a complete geodesic space. No such identification appears in [Erb14]. In particular, the work [Erb14] does not exclude that the topology generated by \mathcal{W} for jump processes is trivial. Let us further note that Poisson random measures naturally appear in the study of Lévy processes through their jump measures. It would therefore be interesting to know whether the results of [Erb14] can be recast in our setting via this identification.

The recent work [PRST20] generalizes this non-local Benamou–Brenier approach to rather general jump processes. However, the jump kernel of the Poisson process does not satisfy [PRST20, Assumption (3.4)].

1.4.2 Other transportation costs for the configuration space

[GHP21] studies optimal transport, more specifically, transport-entropy inequalities on the Poisson space. There, N. Gozlan, G. Peccati and the second author circumvent the lack of canonical cost by considering a non-linear generalization of the classical optimal transport problem. This generalized optimal transport is fully theorized in [GRST17], and is particularly well suited to study discrete spaces [GRST14]. One of their main result [GHP21, Thm. 1.2] is very close in spirit to our Talagrand inequality for $\mathcal W$ (Theorem 5.17): they also obtain an upper bound of their transport cost $\mathbb M^2$ by the relative entropy. However, at the time of writing, no dynamical Benamou–Brenier formulation for the generalized optimal transport of [GRST17] exists, and a comparison of those results seems out of reach. Whether the transport cost of [GHP21] satisfies a displacement convexity inequality is an interesting question outside of the scope of the current paper.

1.4.3 Other geometries on the configuration space

The configuration space over a Riemannian manifold X may be endowed with a differential geometry lifted from that of the base Riemannian manifold. This geometry, defined and studied in [AKR98],

arises from the continuous difference operator

$$\nabla F: \Upsilon \times X \ni (\eta, x) \longmapsto \nabla^z \Big|_{z=x} \mathsf{D}_z F(\eta),$$

and the associated Dirichlet form

$$\mathcal{E}(F) := \int_{\mathcal{T}} \int_{X} ||\nabla_{\eta} F(x)||_{T_{x}X}^{2} \eta(\mathrm{d}x) \pi(\mathrm{d}\eta).$$

The corresponding dynamic is that of the second quantization of the heat semi-group to the Poisson space [Sur82]; while the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group studied in this paper corresponds to the second quantization of the semi-group $P_t f = e^{-t} f$ for all $f \in \mathcal{F}(X)$ and $t \geq 0$. [RS99] proves that this geometry corresponds to that of the extended metric measure space (Υ, W_2) , where W_2 is the Wasserstein 2 transport distance with respect to the Riemannian distance. Following [EH15], this geometry on Υ inherits both Ricci-curvature and Alexandrov-curvature lower bounds from the base space. Two of the authors [DS21; DS22] have recently generalized these results to a large class of metric measure spaces; while the third author also has proved analogous curvature bounds [Suz23] in the setting of Dyson Brownian motion.

This geometry differs from the one we consider throughout the rest of the paper. For instance, the process associated to this differential geometry is a diffusion process; while the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group defines a jump process. Our analysis on the Poisson space also holds without any geometric assumptions on the base space; while [AKR98; EH15] require that the space is a manifold with some geometric assumptions.

1.4.4 Curvature of the Wiener space

Together with Gaussian measures, Poisson random measures are ubiquitous in probability theory. Among other common properties, they share the existence of an orthogonal systems of "chaoses". Consequently, they admit a "differential calculus", known as the *Malliavin calculus*, completely characterised by their probabilistic properties. In particular, we expect the geometric and functional analytic results one can deduce from this differential calculus to be independent of properties of the underlying space. In this regard, [FSS09] derives synthetic Ricci-curvature lower bounds for infinite-dimensional Wiener spaces, equipped with a Gaussian measure, that are as good as the finite-dimensional ones. Our result parallels theirs on the configuration space, equipped with a Poisson measure. Let us however highlight two fundamental differences:

- The generator of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck process on the Gaussian space is diffusive; while our operator is purely non-local.
- The Wiener space comes naturally equipped with an extended distance, the so-called *Cameron–Martin distance*, while their is no canonical distance on the configuration space.

1.5 Outline of the paper

Throughout the paper, we let X be a complete and separable metric space. Section 2 recalls the necessary definitions regarding the *configuration space* Y over X, and establishes some topological results regarding the topology of point processes. Of particular importance, we define the space $\mathcal{P}_1(Y)$ of point processes with finite first moment and we endow it with a Polish topology (Theorem 2.11). We show that mapping a point process in $\mathcal{P}_1(Y)$ to its *reduced Campbell measure* is an homeomorphism (Theorem 2.10). In Section 3, we recall definitions regarding the *Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group* P as well as the *difference operator* D and their interactions with the *relative entropy* \mathcal{H} and the *Fisher information* \mathcal{I} .

In Section 4, we give a precise formulation to the *continuity equation* (1.1). We show (Proposition 4.3) that the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck evolution is a solution to the continuity equation, and that every

solution has a continuous representative (Theorem 4.11). We also obtain a closed formula for the entropy production along solutions to the continuity equations (Theorem 4.13).

In Section 5.1, we define and study the Lagrangian \mathcal{L} and the action \mathcal{A} that are necessary to obtain our transport distance \mathcal{W} . We also study a entropic regularization $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$ of \mathcal{W} , that is of independent interest. We first state several properties of the Lagrangian (Lemmas 5.1, 5.2 and 5.5) necessary to apply the direct method of the calculus of variations in order to prove existence of minimizing curves. We also establish in Lemma 5.4 that the action of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group contracts the Lagrangian. We then define the action \mathcal{A} and verify the existence of minimizers in the infimum. In that regard, we establish the compactness of sub-level sets in Lemma 5.9. After defining the extended distance \mathcal{W} , we summarize its main properties in Theorem 5.15.

In Section 5.2, we show that \mathcal{W} is finite on the domain of \mathcal{H} . The main tool is the Talagrand inequality (Theorem 5.17) comparing \mathcal{W} and \mathcal{H} . We then establish in Theorem 5.27 one of the main result of this work: on the domain of \mathcal{H} the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group is an EVI-gradient flow for the entropy. From this follows several important consequences such as the geodesic convexity of the relative entropy in Theorem 5.28 and the HWI inequality Theorem 5.30.

1.6 Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to Masha Gordina, Takashi Kumagai, Laurent Saloff-Coste, Karl-Theodor Sturm, and the Mathematisches Forschungsinstitut Oberwolfach (MFO) for organizing the workshop *Heat Kernels, Stochastic Processes and Functional Inequalities* (2019), where the authors started discussing this work.

L.D.S. gratefully acknowledges funding by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) grant F65, and by the European Research Council (ERC, grant No. 716117, awarded to Prof. Dr. Jan Maas). He acknowledges funding of his current position by the Austrian Science Fund (FWF) through grant ESPRIT 208.

R.H. gratefully acknowledges funding from Centre Henri Lebesgue. Most of this research was carried out while R.H. was postdoc for the DFG through the project *Random Riemannian Geometry* (initiated by Prof. Dr. Karl-Theodor Sturm and Dr. Eva Kopfer) within the SPP 2265 *Random Geometric Systems*. K.S. gratefully acknowledges funding by: the JSPS Overseas Research Fellowships, Grant Nr. 290142; World Premier International Research Center Initiative (WPI), MEXT, Japan; JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research on Innovative Areas *Discrete Geometric Analysis for Materials Design*, Grant Number 17H06465; and the Alexander von Humboldt Stiftung, Humboldt-Forschungsstipendium.

2 Topological results for point processes

2.1 Topological preliminaries for spaces of functions and measures

Given a measure μ on some measurable space, we write $|\mu|$ for its *variation*; and for a non-negative measurable or μ -integrable functions f, we write $\mu(f) = \int f d\mu$ for the integral of f with respect to μ . We say that a locally convex topological vector space is complete if it is complete with respect to each of the seminorms defining its locally convex topology.

2.1.1 The weak topology

Given a topological space (E, τ) , we write $\mathfrak{B}(E)$ for the Borel sets of E, and $\mathfrak{K}(E)$ for the Borel compact sets. We write $\mathcal{F}_b(E)$ for the set of \mathbb{R} -valued bounded Borel functions, and $\mathscr{C}_b(E)$ for those that are bounded and continuous. We write $\mathcal{P}(E)$ for the set of all Borel probability, and $\mathcal{M}_b(E)$ for the set of Borel finite signed measures on E. For $E \in \mathfrak{B}(E)$ we define the *evaluation map* $\iota_E: \lambda \mapsto \lambda(E)$ for every Borel measure E. For $E \in \mathcal{F}(E)$, we also write E whenever this is well-defined. For an event E is E we also write E of events depending only on E. More precisely, E is the E-algebra of all E-algebra

 $\mathscr{C}_b(E)$ are endowed with the *uniform norm* under which they are Banach spaces. Likewise, $\mathscr{P}(E)$ and $\mathscr{M}_b(E)$ are always endowed with the *weak topology*, that is the initial topology associated with ι_F , $F \in \mathscr{C}_b(E)$.

We also use the superscript + to indicate a subset of non-negative functions or measures. For instance, we write $\mathcal{M}_b^+(E)$ for the cone of non-negative finite Borel measures, $\mathcal{F}^+(E)$ for the non-negative Borel functions.

2.1.2 The vague topology

When (E, d) is a metric space, we write $\mathfrak{B}_0(E)$ for the bounded measurable sets. We write $\mathfrak{F}_0(E)$ for the space of bounded measurable that vanish outside of a bounded set, and $\mathscr{C}_0(E)$ for those that are also continuous.

Given a closed and bounded $B \subset E$, we write $\mathscr{C}_{b,B}(E)$ for the subspace of functions $f \in \mathscr{C}_0(E)$ vanishing outside of B; this set $\mathscr{C}_{b,B}(E)$ is equipped with the uniform norm, under which it is a Banach space. The set $\mathscr{C}_0(E)$ can be endowed with the inductive limit topology associated to the inclusions $\mathscr{C}_{b,E_n}(E) \to \mathscr{C}_0(E)$, where (E_n) is any strictly increasing sequence of closed balls of E whose union covers E. Since, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, the topology induced on $\mathscr{C}_{b,E_n}(E)$ by $\mathscr{C}_{b,E_{n+1}}(E)$ coincides with that of $\mathscr{C}_{b,E_n}(E)$, the inductive limit is strict, and by [Bou81, Prop. 9 (iii), p. II.35], $\mathscr{C}_0(E)$ is complete. This topology is in general not metrizable. A sequence $(f_n) \subset \mathscr{C}_0(E)$ converges to f for the inductive topology we just defined, provided there exists a closed ball E such that the supports of all the E0 are contained in E1, and E2, we endow the set E3 with a similar inductive limit topology. We also consider E3 the space of signed Borel measures that are finite on bounded sets. The set E3 is endowed with the vague topology, that is the initial topology associated with E4, E5 is endowed with the vague topology on E3 is highlighted by the fact that if E4 in E5 in E6, then E7 in E8, then E9 in E9 in the fact that if E9 in E9 in E9 in E9 in the fact that if E9 in E9 in E9 in E9 in E9 in E9.

Remark 2.1. All the objects associated with a metric space (E, d) as above depend on the metric structure of d and not only on the topology generated by d. For instance, d and $d \land 1$ generate the same topology. However, every set is bounded with respect to $d \land 1$.

2.1.3 Topological properties of the weak and vague topology

Let us recall some fundamental results regarding the topology of the spaces of measures we consider.

Theorem 2.2. Assume either that (E, τ) is a Polish space (for statements regarding the weak topology); or that (E, d) is a complete and separable metric space (for statements regarding the vague topology). Then:

(i) The weak topology on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(E)$, resp. the vague topology on $\mathcal{M}_0^+(E)$, is induced by that of the simple convergence on a countable set of $\mathscr{C}_b(E)$, resp. $\mathscr{C}_0(E)$. Namely, there exists $(h_k) \subset \mathscr{C}_b(E)$, resp. $\mathscr{C}_0(E)$, such that the weak topology on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(E)$, resp. the vague topology on $\mathcal{M}_0^+(E)$, is the locally convex topology generated by the seminorms

$$\mu \mapsto |\mu(h_k)|, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Furthermore, the spaces $\mathcal{P}(E)$, $\mathcal{M}_{b}^{+}(E)$, and $\mathcal{M}_{0}^{+}(E)$ are Polish.

(ii) A set $\Delta \subset \mathcal{M}_0(E)$ is vaguely relatively sequentially compact if and only if both of the following conditions hold:

$$(2.1a) \forall B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(E) \sup_{\to} |\mu|(B) < \infty;$$

(2.1b)
$$\forall B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(E) \quad \forall \varepsilon > 0 \quad \exists K_\varepsilon \in \mathfrak{K}(E) : \sup_{\mu \in \Delta} |\mu|(B \setminus K_\varepsilon) \le \varepsilon.$$

A set $\Delta \subset \mathcal{M}_b(E)$ is weakly relatively sequentially compact if and only if (2.1a) and (2.1b) hold with B = E.

Proof. (i) [Par67, Thms. 6.2, 6.5, & 6.6] for the case of $\mathcal{P}(E)$ with (E, τ) Polish. The case of $\mathcal{M}_b^+(E)$ is treated similarly. Now, assume that (E, d) is complete and separable. Then it is also Polish, thus, by the previous case, we can find a countable family $(g_k) \subset \mathcal{C}_b(E)$ that induces the weak topology on $\mathcal{M}_b^+(E)$. We fix a point $o \in X$, and we consider a sequence $(f_k) \subset \mathcal{C}_0(E)$ such that $1_{B(o,k)} \leq f_k \leq 1_{B(o,k+1)}$. We take (h_k) an enumeration of $\{f_jg_i: j, i \in \mathbb{N}\}$. Then

$$\rho(\mu, \mu') := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} 2^{-k} \left| \int h_k d(\mu - \mu') \right|,$$

is a distance metrizing the vague topology on $\mathcal{M}_0^+(E)$, and it is complete. (ii) [Bog07, Thm. 8.6.2].

2.2 Point processes, intensity measures, Campbell measures, Laplace transforms

Let (X, d) be a complete and separable metric space equipped with $m \in \mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$. We write $\Upsilon = \Upsilon(X)$ for the space of *configurations* over X, that is the $\mathbb{N}_0 \cup \{\infty\}$ -valued Borel measures on X that are finite on every bounded set.

Lemma 2.3 ([GHP21, Lem. 2.1]). The set Υ is closed in $\mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$. In particular, it is a Polish space.

A point process μ is any element of $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$. Fix a point process μ . We write I_{μ} for the *intensity measure* of μ , that is

$$I_{\mu}(B) := \mu(\iota_B) = \int \eta(B)\mu(\mathrm{d}\eta), \qquad B \in \mathfrak{B}(X).$$

The reduced Campbell measure is

$$C_{\mu}(A \times B) \coloneqq \iint 1_{B}(x) 1_{A}(\eta - \delta_{x}) \eta(\mathrm{d}x) \mu(\mathrm{d}\eta), \qquad A \in \mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon), \, B \in \mathfrak{B}(X).$$

It is a well-known fact [LP18, Thm. 4.1] in the theory of point processes that μ is a Poisson point process (with intensity I_{μ}) if and only if $C_{\mu} = \mu \otimes I_{\mu}$. We refer to this relation as to the *Mecke identity*. When μ is a Poisson point process, for all probability densities $f \in L^1(\mu)$, we have that

(2.2)
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}C_{f\mu}}{\mathrm{d}(f\mu\otimes I_{f\mu})}(\eta,x) = \frac{f(\eta+\delta_x)}{\int_{\Upsilon} f(\gamma+\delta_x)\mu(\mathrm{d}\gamma)}, \qquad \eta\in\Upsilon, \, x\in X.$$

However, for a generic point process μ , the Campbell measure C_{μ} is *not* absolutely continuous with respect to $\mu \otimes I_{\mu}$, see for instance, [OS16] for an explicit counter-example. Finally, the *Laplace transform* of μ is the map

$$\Lambda_{\mu}(h) := \int \exp(-\eta(h))\mu(\mathrm{d}\eta), \qquad h \in \mathscr{C}_0^+(X).$$

2.3 The weak convergence on $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$

We define $\mathscr G$ as the (algebraic) linear span of functions of the form $\mathrm{e}^{-\iota_h}$ for some $h \in \mathscr F_0^+(X)$. Set $\mathscr S \coloneqq \mathscr G \cap \mathscr C_b(\Upsilon)$. Let us recall the following characterization of the weak convergence on $\mathscr P(\Upsilon)$.

Theorem 2.4 ([Kal17, Thm. 4.11]). *The space* $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ *is Polish. Moreover, for all* $(\mu_n) \subset \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ *and* $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$. *Then,*

$$\left[\mu_n \xrightarrow{\mathcal{P}(Y)} \mu\right] \Leftrightarrow \left[\mu_n(F) \to \mu(F), F \in \mathcal{S}\right] \Leftrightarrow \left[\Lambda_{\mu_n}(h) \to \Lambda_{\mu}(h), h \in \mathcal{C}_0^+(X)\right].$$

In general, there exists a no countable set $\mathfrak{D} \subset \mathcal{S}$ convergence-determining for the weak topology on $\mathfrak{P}(\Upsilon)$. We now provide a partial ansatz to this result. For $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$, the class $\mathfrak{B}_0^{\lambda}(X)$ of *continuity* sets for λ consists of the sets $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ such that $\lambda(\partial B) = 0$. We then define

(2.4)
$$\mathcal{P}^{\lambda}(\Upsilon) := \{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon) : \text{ continuity sets for } \lambda \text{ are also continuity sets for } I_{\mu} \}.$$

In particular, $\mu \in \mathcal{P}^{\lambda}(\Upsilon)$ whenever $I_{\mu} \ll \lambda$.

Lemma 2.5. Take $\lambda \in \mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$. There exists a countable set $\mathcal{G}^{\lambda} \subset \mathcal{G}$ such that the trace topology of $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ on $\mathcal{P}^{\lambda}(\Upsilon)$ is induced by the topology of simple convergence on \mathcal{G}^{λ} , namely it is induced by the seminorms

Remark 2.6. We could also use Theorem 2.2 (*i*) to find a countable subset of $\mathscr{C}_b(\Upsilon)$ to construct the seminorms. However, we cannot use $\mathscr{C}_b(\Upsilon)$ in the definition of the continuity equation (CE_T) below.

Proof. By [Kal17, Lem. 1.9 (v)], $\mathfrak{B}_0^{\lambda}(X)$ is a *dissecting ring* in the sense of [Kal17, p. 24]. By [Kal17, Lem. 1.9 (i)], there exists a countable dissecting ring $\mathfrak{F}^{\lambda} \subset \mathfrak{B}_0^{\lambda}(X)$. Let \mathcal{I}^{λ} be the set of simple, \mathfrak{F}^{λ} -measurable, $\mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1]$ -valued functions on X. In a more prosaic way, \mathcal{I}^{λ} is the set of functions h of the form

$$h = \sum_{i=1}^{l} q_i 1_{B_i}, \qquad l \in \mathbb{N}, (q_i) \subset \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1], (B_i) \subset \mathfrak{F}^{\lambda}.$$

Then \mathcal{I}^{λ} is countable and we define:

$$\mathcal{G}^{\lambda} := \{ e^{-\iota_h} : h \in \mathcal{I}^{\lambda} \}.$$

Let us verify that \mathcal{G}^{λ} is an appropriate choice for the claim. Let $(\mu_n) \subset \mathcal{P}^{\lambda}(\Upsilon)$ and $\mu \in \mathcal{P}^{\lambda}(\Upsilon)$. As a subset of the Polish space $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$, the space $\mathcal{P}^{\lambda}(\Upsilon)$ is metrizable, and in particular, second-countable. It is thus sufficient to verify that convergence of (μ_n) with respect to the family of seminorms (2.5) is equivalent to weak convergence. By construction, \mathfrak{F}^{λ} is a dissecting ring consisting of continuity sets of I_{μ} . If $\mu_n \to \mu$ in $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$, we get $\mu_n(F) \to \mu(F)$ for all $F \in \mathcal{G}^{\lambda}$, by [Kal17, Thm. 4.11 (iii)]. Conversely, assume that $\mu_n(F) \to \mu(F)$ for all $F \in \mathcal{G}^{\lambda}$. Then the same holds for all F in the closure $\overline{\mathcal{G}^{\lambda}}$ of \mathcal{G}^{λ} with respect to the uniform topology. For $B \in \mathfrak{F}^{\lambda}$, $q \in \mathbb{Q} \cap [0,1]$, and $q \in [0,1]$, we have that

$$\sup_{\eta \in \Gamma} \left| e^{-q\eta(B)} - e^{-r\eta(B)} \right| = \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \left| e^{-qn} - e^{-rn} \right| \xrightarrow{q \to r} 0.$$

Together with the triangle inequality, this shows that $\overline{\mathscr{G}^{\lambda}}$ contains functions of the form e^{-t_h} for h a simple, \mathfrak{F}^{λ} -measurable, [0,1]-valued function on Υ . By Theorem 2.4, $\mu_n \to \mu$ in $\mathscr{P}(\Upsilon)$.

2.4 Locally integrable point processes

Without further assumptions, I_{μ} is merely a non-negative measure on X, not necessarily finite on bounded sets. This motivates the following definition. We consider the set $\mathscr{C}_{b,0}(\varUpsilon \times X)$ of continuous and bounded functions on $\varUpsilon \times X$ that vanish outside of a set of the form $\varUpsilon \times B$ for some $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$. As for $\mathscr{C}_0(X)$ or $\mathscr{F}_0(X)$, the space $\mathscr{C}_{b,0}(\varUpsilon \times X)$ can be endowed with an inductive limit topology. More precisely, it is the strict inductive limit of the Banach spaces $\mathscr{C}_{b,\varUpsilon \times B}(\varUpsilon \times X)$ of continuous and bounded functions on $\varUpsilon \times X$ vanishing outside of $\varUpsilon \times B$ for some closed bounded set $B \subset X$. Similarly to the vague topology, we consider the set $\mathscr{M}_{b,0}(\varUpsilon \times X)$ of signed Borel measures ν on $\varUpsilon \times X$ such that $\nu(\varUpsilon \times B) < \infty$ for all $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$. We equip it with the locally convex topology induced by the seminorms

$$\nu \mapsto |\nu(F)|, \qquad F \in \mathcal{C}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X).$$

Theorem 2.2 also works for $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$, when we take for "bounded sets" the sets of the form $\Upsilon \times B$ for some $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$. To see this we can consider the complete and separable metric space $E = \Upsilon \times X$ endowed with a distance of the form $d' \oplus d$ where d' is any bounded distance on Υ that is complete and induces the topology of Υ . Then, a set is bounded if E if and only if it is contained in $\Upsilon \times B$ for some B bounded in X, and the topology of $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ we defined is the vague topology of $\mathcal{M}_0(E)$.

Definition 2.7. We say that a point process μ is *locally integrable* if $I_{\mu} \in \mathcal{M}_0(X)$. We write $\mathcal{P}_1(Y)$ for the set of all locally integrable point processes.

We now equip $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ with a suitable topology. We say that $F \in \mathcal{F}(\Upsilon)$ has *sublinear growth*, provided there exists c > 0 and $h \in \mathcal{C}_0(X)$ such that:

$$|F(\eta)| \le c(1 + \eta(h)), \quad \eta \in \Upsilon.$$

We write $\mathcal{C}_1(\Upsilon)$ for the set of continuous functions with sublinear growth.

Remark 2.8. We always have $\mathscr{C}_b(\Upsilon) \subset \mathscr{C}_1(\Upsilon)$ with a strict inclusion, since for all $h \in \mathscr{C}_0(X) \setminus \{0\}$, $\iota_h \in \mathscr{C}_1(\Upsilon) \setminus \mathscr{C}_b(\Upsilon)$. This is true even when $X = \{*\}$ is the one-point space.

Definition 2.9. We equip $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ with the initial topology associated with the mappings ι_F , $F \in \mathcal{C}_1(\Upsilon)$. In other words, it is the locally convex topology defined by the family of semi-norms

$$\mu \mapsto |\mu(F)|, \qquad F \in \mathcal{C}_1(\Upsilon).$$

We now establish that the space $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ with the above topology is Polish. A central tool in proving so is the following property of the Campbell map.

Theorem 2.10. The map $C: \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) \to \mathcal{M}_{b,0}^+(\Upsilon \times X), \mu \mapsto C_{\mu}$ is a homeomorphism onto its image.

Proof. We write \mathcal{F} for the image of C. For all $\mu \in \mathcal{F}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$, $C_{\mu}(\Upsilon \times B) = I_{\mu}(B) < \infty$. Moreover, C_{μ} is always non-negative. Thus, $\mathcal{F} \subset \mathcal{M}_{b,0}^+(\Upsilon \times X)$, and the assertion is well-posed. In the rest of the proof, we write $\Upsilon^* := \Upsilon \setminus \{\emptyset\}$, where \emptyset is the empty configuration. By [Bou74, IX, p.57, Prop. 1], the open set Υ^* is also Polish.

C is into. Let μ and $\mu' \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ such that $C_{\mu} = C_{\mu'}$. Let $A \in \mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon), B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$, and

$$u(\eta, x) = \frac{1}{\eta(B) + 1} 1_B(x) 1_A(\eta + \delta_x) \qquad \eta \in \Upsilon, x \in X.$$

Then, we have that

$$C_{\mu}(u) = \iint_{B} u(\eta - \delta_{x}, x) \eta(\mathrm{d}x) \mu(\mathrm{d}\eta) = \iint 1_{A}(\eta) \frac{1_{B}(x)}{\eta(B)} \eta(\mathrm{d}x) \mu(\mathrm{d}\eta) = \mu(A \cap \{\eta(B) > 0\}).$$

Letting $B \nearrow X$ we get that $\mu(A) = \mu'(A)$ for all $A \in \mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon^*)$ by monotone convergence. Thus μ and μ' coincide as measures on Υ^* but since they are probability measures on Υ , we have that

$$\mu(\emptyset) = 1 - \mu(\Upsilon^*) = \mu'(\emptyset).$$

Thus $\mu = \mu'$ on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

C is continuous. Take $\mu_o \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $l \in \mathbb{N}$. For i = 1, ..., l, let $u_i \in \mathcal{C}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$, and $\varepsilon_i > 0$. We set

$$V \coloneqq \bigcap_{i=1}^{l} \left\{ C_{\mu} : \mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon), |(C_{\mu} - C_{\mu_o})(u_i)| \le \varepsilon_i \right\}.$$

The set V is a neighbourhood in \mathcal{F} of C_{μ_o} and the class of all sets V of this form is a fundamental system of neighbourhoods of C_{μ_o} (for instance, [Bou69, II, pp. 2-4]). Thus it suffices to show that $C^{-1}(V)$ is a neighbourhood of μ_o . Now, since C is into, we have that

$$C^{-1}(V) = \bigcap_{i=1}^l \Big\{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) \, : \, |(C_\mu - C_{\mu_o})(u_i)| \leq \varepsilon_i \Big\}.$$

Let $i=1,\ldots,l$. We set, for $\eta\in \Upsilon$, $F_i(\eta):=\int u_i(\eta-\delta_x,x)\eta(\mathrm{d}x)$. By Lemma 2.15 below, $F_i\in \mathscr{C}_1(\Upsilon)$. Moreover,

$$(C_{\mu} - C_{\mu_o})(u_i) = \iint u_i(\eta - \delta_x, x)\eta(\mathrm{d}x)(\mu - \mu_o)(\mathrm{d}\eta) = (\mu - \mu_o)(F_i).$$

Thus, we get

$$C^{-1}(V) = \bigcap_{i=1}^{l} \left\{ \mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) : |(\mu - \mu_o)(F_i)| \le \varepsilon_i \right\},\,$$

which, by definition of the topology on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, is a neighbourhood of μ_0 in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

 C^{-1} **is continuous.** Since $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}^+(\Upsilon \times X)$ is Polish, it is sufficient to show that C^{-1} is sequentially continuous. Thus, let us consider $(\mu_n) \subset \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ such that $C_{\mu_n} \to C_{\mu}$ in $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. Take $h \in \mathcal{C}_0(X)$ with $h \geq 0$. We have the following bound:

$$\left| \mathrm{e}^{-s\eta(h)} - \mathrm{e}^{-t\eta(h)} \right| \leq |s-t| |\eta(h)|, \qquad s, \ t \in (0,1), \ \eta \in \varUpsilon.$$

Since $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $h \in \mathcal{C}_0(X)$, we have that $\iota_h \in L^1(\mu)$. Since, $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, by Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, we find that the map $(0,1) \ni t \mapsto \Lambda_{\mu}(th)$ is differentiable with derivative given by:

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Lambda_{\mu}(th) = C_{\mu}(u_t),$$

where

$$u_t(\eta,x) \coloneqq -h(x) \operatorname{e}^{-th(x)} \exp\left(-t \int h \mathrm{d}\eta\right), \qquad \eta \in \varUpsilon, \, x \in X, \, t \in (0,1).$$

Now, observe that,

$$|C_{\mu_n}(u_t)| = \int \eta(h) e^{-t\eta(h)} \mu_n(d\eta) \le I_{\mu_n}(h) = C_{\mu_n}(1 \otimes h).$$

The right-hand side is uniformly bounded with respect to $n \in \mathbb{N}$ since, by assumption (C_{μ_n}) converges in $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ and $1 \otimes h \in \mathcal{C}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. Thus, by dominated convergence:

$$\Lambda_{\mu_n}(h) = 1 + \int_0^1 C_{\mu_n}(u_t) dt \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{} 1 + \int_0^1 C_{\mu}(u_t) dt = \Lambda_{\mu}(h).$$

Thus (μ_n) converges weakly to μ (Theorem 2.4). Take $F \in \mathscr{C}_1(\Upsilon)$. By definition, we can find $h \in \mathscr{C}_0(X)$ such that $|F| \leq c(\iota_h + 1)$ for some c > 0. Now the convergence of the Campbell measures implies the convergence of the intensity measures in $\mathscr{M}_0(X)$. Thus, by [Kal21, Lem. 5.11], we get that ι_h is uniformly integrable with respect to (μ_n) . So that F is also uniformly integrable with respect to (μ_n) . By the continuous mapping theorem, $F_{\sharp}\mu_n \to F_{\sharp}\mu$ in distribution, together with uniform integrability, this gives by [Kal21, Lem. 5.11], that $\mu_n(F) \to \mu(F)$. This shows that $\mu_n \to \mu$ in $\mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

Now we turn to the proof of Polishness.

Theorem 2.11. The space $\mathcal{P}_1(Y)$ is Polish.

Proof. It is sufficient to show that $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ is homeomorphic to a Polish space (for instance, [Bou74, IX, p. 58, Cor. 2]). Thus, in view of the previous theorem and [Bou74, IX, p. 57, Prop. 1], it suffices to show that the image \mathcal{F} of C in $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}^+(\Upsilon \times X)$ is closed. Take $(\mu_n) \subset \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ such that $C_{\mu_n} \to \sigma \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}^+(\Upsilon \times X)$. By continuity of the projection $\Upsilon \times X \to X$, the sequence (I_{μ_n}) also converges to some measure in $\mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$. This yields that $\Delta := (I_{\mu_n})$ is relatively compact, so that by Theorem 2.2 it satisfies (2.1). Precisely, take $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$, by (2.1b), we have that

$$\inf_{K \in \Re(X)} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \int (\eta(B \setminus K) \wedge 1) \mu_n(\mathrm{d}\eta) \le \inf_{K \in \Re(X)} \sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} I_{\mu_n}(B \setminus K) = 0;$$

while, by (2.1a) and Markov's inequality, we get that

$$\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\mu_n(\eta(B)>r)\leq \frac{1}{r}\sup_{n\in\mathbb{N}}I_{\mu_n}(B)\leq \frac{c}{r}.$$

The two previous equations show that the conditions of [Kal17, Thm. 4.10] are satisfied and thus up to extraction we can find $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ such that $\mu_n \to \mu$ in $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$.

Now, let $h \in \mathscr{C}_0(X)$. By [Kal21, Lem. 5.11], we get $\mu \in \mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ with $I_{\mu}(h) \leq \liminf_n I_{\mu_n}(h) < \infty$. By definition, the map $\eta \mapsto \eta(h)$ is continuous. Thus, the set $\{\eta(h) + 1 \geq r\}$ is a closed set, for every r > 0, and the map

$$u_r(\eta, x) := h(x) 1_{\{\eta(h)+1 > r\}}, \quad \eta \in \Upsilon, x \in X,$$

is upper semi-continuous. By the Portmanteau Theorem,

$$\limsup_{n} \int \eta(h) \, 1_{\{\eta(h) \ge r\}} \mathrm{d}\mu_n \le \limsup_{n} C_{\mu_n}(u_r) \le \sigma(u_r).$$

By dominated convergence, the right-hand side converges to 0 as $r \to \infty$. In particular, ι_h is uniformly integrable with respect to (μ_n) . By an argument similar to the one used in the previous proof, we conclude that $\mu_n \to \mu$ in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. Since C is continuous and $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ is Hausdorff, this shows that $\sigma = C_\mu$.

Actually in the previous proofs, we have established the two following results that we extract here for convenience.

Proposition 2.12. Let $(\mu_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset \mathcal{P}_1(Y)$ and $\mu\in\mathcal{P}(Y)$. Then, the following are equivalent:

(i)
$$\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$$
 and $\mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)} \mu$.

(ii)
$$C_{\mu_n} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)} C_{\mu}$$
.

(iii)
$$\mu_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\text{weakly}} \mu \text{ and } I_{\mu_n} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathcal{M}_0(X)} I_{\mu}.$$

Proof. The equivalence between (*i*) and (*ii*) follows from Theorem 2.10 since C is a homemorphism. We proved that (*ii*) implies (*iii*) implies (*i*) in the proof of the continuity of C^{-1} in Theorem 2.10. \Box

Remark 2.13. Take d_1 (resp. d_2) a distance that completely metrizes the topology of $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ (resp. that of $\mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$). In view of the above result the distance

$$d(\mu,\mu) := d_1(\mu,\mu') + d_2(I_\mu,I_{\mu'}), \qquad \mu,\,\mu' \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon),$$

metrizes the topology of $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. However, this distance may in general be *not* complete.

Indeed, take $X = \{*\}$, the one-point space. Then, Υ is identified with \mathbb{N}_0 , and $\mathcal{M}_0(X)$ is identified with \mathbb{R} . Let μ_n be the law of a random variable that takes the value n with probability 1/n, and 0 with probability 1 - 1/n. Then $\mu_n \to \delta_0$ in $\mathcal{P}(\mathbb{N}_0)$ so that $(\mu_n)_n$ is Cauchy with respect to d_1 . Moreover, we have that $I_{\mu_n} = 1$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, so that $(I_{\mu_n})_n$ is Cauchy with respect to d_2 . Thus, $(\mu_n)_n$ is Cauchy with respect to d_2 . However, it does not converge in $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathbb{N}_0)$, since $I_{\delta_0} = 0$.

Proposition 2.14. *Let* $\mathcal{A} \subset \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. *Then, the following are equivalent:*

- (i) \mathcal{A} is relatively compact in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$;
- (ii) \mathcal{A} is relatively compact in $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ and, for all $h \in \mathcal{C}_0(X)$, the map ι_h is uniformly integrable with respect to \mathcal{A} .

Proof. Assume that \mathcal{A} is relatively compact in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. Take a sequence in \mathcal{A} . Up to extraction it converges in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. Thus, by Proposition 2.12 (*iii*), it converges weakly. This shows that \mathcal{A} is weakly sequentially relatively compact, and thus relatively compact in $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$. The uniform integrability follows from [Kal21, Lem. 5.11] together with Proposition 2.12 (*iii*).

Conversely, assume that \mathcal{A} is weakly relatively compact and that we have the uniform integrability condition. Then up to extraction every sequence in \mathcal{A} weakly converges, and by the uniform integrability and [Kal21, Lem. 5.11], we find that the intensity measures also converge. By Proposition 2.12, we deduce that \mathcal{A} is then sequentially relatively compact in $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathcal{Y})$, and thus it is relatively compact, since $\mathcal{P}_1(\mathcal{Y})$ is Polish by Theorem 2.11.

Let us finish with the proof of the lemma used above.

Lemma 2.15. If $u \in \mathcal{C}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$, then

$$F: \eta \longmapsto \int u(\eta - \delta_x, x) \eta(\mathrm{d}x), \qquad \eta \in \Upsilon,$$

satisfies $F \in \mathcal{C}_1(\Upsilon)$.

Proof. Without loss of generality, we assume that $u \ge 0$. Indeed, for $u \in \mathcal{C}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$, we also have that u_+ and $u_- \in \mathcal{C}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. Since $u \in \mathcal{C}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$, there exists c > 0 and $h \in \mathcal{C}_0(X)$ such that $h \ge 0$ and

$$u(\eta, x) \le ch(x), \quad \eta \in \Upsilon, x \in X.$$

We have that

$$|F(\eta_n) - F(\eta)| \le c \left| \int h(x)(\eta_n - \eta)(\mathrm{d}x) \right| + \int |u(\eta_n - \delta_x, x) - u(\eta - \delta_x, x)|\eta(\mathrm{d}x).$$

The first term vanishes as $n \to \infty$, by definition of vague convergence. Since u is continuous the integrand in the second term also vanishes and is dominated by $2ch \in L^1(\eta)$. By dominated convergence, the corresponding integral also vanishes. This shows that F is continuous. We also have that $F(\eta) \le c\eta(h)$ which shows that $F \in \mathcal{C}_1(\Upsilon)$.

3 Discrete operators and the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck dynamics

3.1 Mehler's formula, difference operator, divergence of a function

We refer the reader to [Las16] for more details and proofs regarding objects introduced in this section. We fix a Poisson point process π with intensity $m \in \mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$.

For all π -integrable $F \in \mathcal{F}(\Upsilon)$, we define the *Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group* by

$$P_t F(\eta) := \mathbb{E}\Big[F(\eta^{(e^{-t})} + \xi_t)\Big], \qquad \eta \in \Upsilon, t \ge 0,$$

where $\eta^{(s)}$ is the s-thinning of η and ξ_t is distributed as a Poisson point process with intensity $(1 - e^{-t})m$ and is independent of the thinning.

The family $P = (P_t)_{t \ge 0}$ is a Markov semigroup on $L^1(\pi)$. Moreover, it maps continuous functions to continuous functions. For all point processes μ , we define by duality

$$P_t^{\star}\mu(A) \coloneqq \mu(P_t 1_A), \qquad A \in \mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon), \quad t \ge 0.$$

It is readily verified that this indeed defines a measure. If $\mu = \rho \pi$, then $\mathsf{P}_t^\star \mu = (\mathsf{P}_t \rho) \pi$ for all $t \geq 0$. We also have that P_t^\star maps $\mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ to $\mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ for all t > 0, and that

(3.1)
$$\mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu \xrightarrow[t \to 0]{\mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon)} \mu, \qquad \mu \in \mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon).$$

Proof of (3.1). Let $\eta \sim \mu$ and $h \in \mathcal{C}_0(X)$, and set $\eta_t := \eta^{(e^{-t})}$. By [Kal17, Lem. 3.1], we have that

$$\mathbb{E}[\exp(-\eta_t(h))] = \mathbb{E}\bigg[\exp\bigg(\int \log \big(1 - \mathrm{e}^{-t}(1 - \mathrm{e}^{-h})\big) \mathrm{d}\eta\bigg)\bigg].$$

Since $\log(1 - e^{-t}(1 - e^{-h})) \le (1 - e^{-h})$, by dominated convergence and [Kal17, Thm. 4.11], we get that $\text{law}(\eta_t) \to \mu$ in $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$. Similar computations show that $\text{law}(\xi_t) \to \delta_{\emptyset}$ in $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$. Thus, by continuity of the sum and the continuous mapping theorem, we conclude that $\mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu = \text{law}(\eta_t + \xi_t) \to \mu$ in $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$. The Mehler formula also implies that

(3.2)
$$I_{\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu}(h) = \mathrm{e}^{-t} I_{\mu}(h) + (1 - \mathrm{e}^{-t}) m(h) \xrightarrow[t \to 0]{} I_{\mu}(h),$$

which concludes the proof in view of Proposition 2.12.

For $F \in \mathcal{F}(\Upsilon)$ we write

$$D_x F(\eta) := F(\eta + \delta_x) - F(\eta), \qquad \eta \in \Upsilon, \quad x \in X,$$

and regard DF as the map

$$\mathsf{D}F: \Upsilon \times X \ni (\eta, x) \mapsto \mathsf{D}_x F(\eta).$$

The difference operator and the semi-group satisfy a commutation relation à la Bakry-Émery [Las16, Lem. 6]:

(**BE**)
$$\mathsf{DP}_t F = \mathrm{e}^{-t} \, \mathsf{P}_t \mathsf{D} F, \qquad F \in L^2(\pi).$$

For all $u \in L^1(\pi \otimes m)$, we define a formal adjoint to D, namely the Skorokhod divergence

$$\mathsf{D}^{\star}u(\eta) \coloneqq \int u(\eta - \delta_x, x) \eta(\mathrm{d} x) - \int u(\eta, x) m(\mathrm{d} x), \qquad \eta \in \Upsilon.$$

By the Mecke formula, $D^*u \in L^1(\pi)$.

3.2 Sobolev spaces

Due to its discrete nature, D does not give rise to a good notion of smooth functions. As a partial substitute, let us define the Sobolev spaces associated with D. For all $F \in \mathcal{F}(\Upsilon)$ and $k \in \mathbb{N}$, we can define iteratively $\mathsf{D}^k F \in \mathcal{F}(\Upsilon \times X^k)$. We can thus define the *Sobolev spaces of order* $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $p \in [1, \infty]$ as the set $\mathcal{W}^{k,p} = \mathcal{W}^{k,p}(\Upsilon)$ containing all $F \in L^p(\pi)$ such that $\mathsf{D}^{k'} F \in L^p(\pi \otimes m^{\otimes k'})$ for all $k' \leq k$. It is endowed with the norm

$$||F||_{k,p} := ||F||_{L^p(\pi)} + \sum_{k'=1}^k ||D^{k'}F||_{L^p(\pi \otimes m^{\otimes k'})}.$$

3.3 Generator of the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group

The Markov generator of P on $L^2(\pi)$ is the unbounded operator L with \mathfrak{D} om L consisting of all the functions $F \in L^2(\pi)$ such that the following limit exists

$$\mathsf{L} F \coloneqq L^2(\pi) \text{-} \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\mathsf{P}_t - \mathsf{id}}{t} F.$$

By [Las16, Props. 3 & 4], we have that \mathfrak{D} om $L = \mathcal{W}^{2,2}$; for $F \in \mathfrak{D}$ om $L \cap \mathcal{W}^{1,1}$, we have the following representation

$$\mathsf{L} F(\eta) = -\mathsf{D}^{\star} \mathsf{D} F(\eta) = \int \big(F(\eta + \delta_x) - F(\eta) \big) m(\mathrm{d} x) - \int \big(F(\eta) - F(\eta - \delta_x) \big) \eta(\mathrm{d} x), \qquad \eta \in \Upsilon,$$

and the following integration by parts holds

(3.3)
$$\int F LG d\pi = -\int DF DG d(\pi \otimes m), \qquad F \in \mathcal{W}^{1,2}, G \in \mathcal{D}om L.$$

In view of the general theory of Dirichlet forms [MR92, Thm. 2.20], we have the following regularization property

(3.4)
$$P_t L^2(\pi) \subset \mathfrak{D} \text{ om L}, \qquad t > 0.$$

The inverse of L is defined for all $F \in L^2(\pi)$ such that $\int F d\pi = 0$ via [Las16, Thm. 7]:

$$\mathsf{L}^{-1}F(\eta) \coloneqq -\int_0^\infty \mathsf{P}_s F(\eta) \mathrm{d} s.$$

3.4 Relative entropy

Let π be the Poisson point process with intensity m, and μ be a point process. The *relative entropy of* μ *with respect to* π is

$$\mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) \coloneqq \int \rho \log \rho \mathrm{d}\pi \qquad \text{if} \quad \mu \ll \pi, \quad \rho = \frac{\mathrm{d}\mu}{\mathrm{d}\pi},$$

and $\mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) = \infty$ otherwise. We write \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} for the set of $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ with $\mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) < \infty$. The following result recasts well-known properties of the relative entropy with respect to the weak topology in the setting of $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

Lemma 3.1. We have that \mathfrak{D} om $\mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. Moreover, $\mathcal{H}(\cdot \mid \pi)$ is lower semi-continuous with respect to the $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ -topology and its sub-level sets are relatively compact in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

Proof. Set $\theta(s) := s \log s - s + 1$ for $s \ge 0$ and $\theta(s) := \infty$ otherwise. We denote its Legendre transform by

$$\theta^*(t) := \sup_{s \in \mathbb{R}} (st - \theta(s)) = e^t - 1, \qquad t \in \mathbb{R}.$$

The functions θ and θ^* are convex conjugate to each other, and a pair of Young functions. We define, the *Orlicz norm*

$$||F||_{L^{\theta}} := \sup \left\{ \int FG d\pi : \int \theta^*(|G|) \le 1 \right\}, \qquad F \in \mathcal{F}(\Upsilon).$$

Let $\mu = \rho \pi \in \mathfrak{D}$ om \mathcal{H} and note that $\int \theta(\rho) d\pi = \mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi)$. For $r \in \mathbb{R}$ and $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ set $F_r(\eta) := \eta(B) 1_{\{\eta(B) > r\}}$. In view of [KR61, Eq. (9.13), p. 73], we find that

(3.5)
$$\left| \int F_r \rho d\pi \right| \leq ||F_r||_{L^{\theta^*}} (1 \wedge \mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi)).$$

On the one hand, by Fenchel's inequality, we have that

(3.6)
$$||F_r||_{L^{\theta^*}} \le ||F_0||_{L^{\theta^*}} \le \int (e^{\eta(B)} - 1) d\pi + 1.$$

This quantity is finite in view of the exponential integrability of Poisson random variables. The second inequality above shows that \mathfrak{D} om $\mathcal{H} \subset \mathcal{P}_1(\mathcal{Y})$. On the other hand, by dominated convergence,

$$\int \theta^*(aF_r) d\pi = \int 1_{\{a\eta(B)>r\}} (e^{a\eta(B)} - 1) \pi(d\eta) \xrightarrow[r \to \infty]{} 0, \qquad a > 0.$$

In view of the equivalence of the Orlicz and the Luxembourg norms [KR61, Eq. (9.24), p. 80], the latter convergence implies that

$$\lim_{r\to\infty} ||F_r||_{L^{\theta^*}} = 0.$$

Together with (3.5), this shows that the uniform integrability condition in Proposition 2.14 is satisfied on sub-level sets of $\mathcal{H}(\cdot \mid \pi)$. By [DZ10, Lem. 6.2.12], these sub-level sets are also weakly relatively compact, thus we conclude they are relatively compact in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ by Proposition 2.14. Since $\mathcal{H}(\cdot \mid \pi)$ is weakly lower semi-continuous (e.g., [DZ10, Lem. 6.2.13]) and since the $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ -topology is finer than the weak topology, we get the lower semi-continuity.

3.5 Fisher information

The (modified) Fisher information of $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ is

$$\mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi) \coloneqq \int \mathsf{D}\rho \; \mathsf{D} \log \rho \mathsf{d}(\pi \otimes m) \qquad \text{if} \quad \mu \ll \pi, \quad \rho = \frac{\mathsf{d}\mu}{\mathsf{d}\pi},$$

if $\mu = \rho \pi$, and $\mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi) := \infty$ otherwise. We write \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{I} for the set of μ 's with $\mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi) < \infty$. By convexity of θ , we have that $(a - b)(\log a - \log b) = (a - b)(\theta'(a) - \theta'(b)) \ge 0$ for all a and $b \in \mathbb{R}$. This shows that $\mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi)$ is well-defined, although potentially ∞ , for all $\mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$. The relative entropy and the Fisher information are related through the *modified logarithmic Sobolev inequality* [Wu00, Cor. 2.2]:

(3.7)
$$\mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) \leq \mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi), \qquad \mu \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon).$$

Theorem 3.2. The functional $\mathcal{I}(\cdot \mid \pi)$ is lower semi-continuous on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

Proof. The lower semi-continuity of the Fisher information will follow from that of similar functionals defined at the level of functions, by a uniform integrability argument, as we now show.

Weak L^1_{loc} lower semi-continuity. Let $L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\pi \otimes m)$ be the space of (equivalence classes of) Borel functions $u: \Upsilon \times X \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$||u||_B := \int_{Y \times B} |u| d(\pi \otimes m) < \infty, \qquad B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X).$$

Equipped with the locally convex topology induced by the family of semi-norms $\|\cdot\|_B$ with $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$, the space $L^1_{loc}(\pi \otimes m)$ is a Fréchet space, and every continuous linear functional on $L^1_{loc}(\pi \otimes m)$ is represented by some $u \in L^{\infty}(\pi \otimes m)$ with u vanishing outside of some $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$, see Lemma 6.1. Let us define

$$\psi(s,t) \coloneqq \begin{cases} \left(\log(s+t) - \log s\right)t, & \text{if } s > 0, \ t > -s; \\ +\infty, & \text{otherwise;} \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{I}_{\pi}(\rho,u) &\coloneqq \int_{\Upsilon \times X} \psi(\rho,u) \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m), \qquad \rho \in L^1(\pi), \, u \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\pi \otimes m); \\ \mathcal{I}_{\pi,B}(\rho,u) &\coloneqq \int_{\Upsilon \times B} \psi(\rho,u) \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m), \qquad \rho \in L^1(\pi), \, u \in L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\pi \otimes m), \, B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X). \end{split}$$

We fix $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ and we write m_B for the restriction of m to B. Since $\pi \otimes m_B$ is a finite non-atomic measure, and since $\psi \geq 0$, by [Iof77, Thm. 1] we find that $\mathcal{I}_{\pi,B}$ is lower semi-continuous with respect to the weak topology of $L^1(\pi) \times L^1(\pi \otimes m_B)$. By [Bou81, II, p. 53, Prop. 8], this weak topology is actually the product topology of the weak topologies on $L^1(\pi)$ and $L^1(\pi \otimes m_B)$.

Let $(\rho_{\alpha}) \subset L^1(\pi)$ be a net weakly converging to $\rho \in L^1(\pi)$ and $(u_{\alpha}) \subset L^1_{loc}(\pi \otimes m)$ be a net weakly converging to $u \in L^1_{loc}(\pi \otimes m)$. On the one hand, in view of Lemma 6.1, we find that $(u_{\alpha}1_B)$ is a net converging weakly in $L^1(\pi \otimes m_B)$ to $u1_B$. On the other hand,

$$\liminf_{\alpha} \mathcal{I}_{\pi,B}(\rho_{\alpha},u_{\alpha}) = \liminf_{\alpha} \mathcal{I}_{\pi,B}(\rho_{\alpha},u_{\alpha}1_{B}) \geq \mathcal{I}_{\pi,B}(\rho,u1_{B}) = \mathcal{I}_{\pi,B}(\rho,u).$$

Thus, by the lower semi-continuity established above, we find that $\mathcal{I}_{\pi,B}$ is actually lower semi-continuous with respect to the weak topology on $L^1(\pi) \times L^1_{\text{loc}}(\pi \otimes m)$. Since $\psi \geq 0$, the functional $B \mapsto \mathcal{I}_{\pi,B}$ is monotone increasing. By monotone convergence

$$\sup_{B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)} \mathcal{I}_{\pi,B} = \mathcal{I}_{\pi}.$$

Thus, as a supremum of lower semi-continuous functions, \mathcal{I}_{π} is also lower semi-continuous with respect to the weak topology on $L^1(\pi) \times L^1_{loc}(\pi \otimes m)$.

 $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ -lower semicontinuity. Fix $b \ge 0$. We show that

$$A_b := \{ \mu = \rho \pi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) : \mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi) \le b \}$$

is closed in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. In view of Theorem 2.11, it suffices to show that it is sequentially closed. Consider $(\mu_n) \subset A_b$, with $\mu_n = \rho_n \pi$, converging to some $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. By (3.7) and a theorem of la Vallée-Poussin [DM75, Thm. 22, p. 38], the set A_b is uniformly integrable when regarded as a subset of $L^1(\pi)$. Hence, by the Dunford-Pettis Theorem [DM75, Thm. 25, p. 43], the family (ρ_n) is weakly relatively compact in $L^1(\pi)$. Since (μ_n) converges to μ in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, we thus find that there exists $\rho \in L^1(\pi)$ with $\mu = \rho \pi$ and (ρ_n) converges to ρ weakly in $L^1(\pi)$.

Let $v \in L^{\infty}(\pi \otimes m)$ such that there exists $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ with v = 0 $\pi \otimes m$ -almost everywhere outside of $\Upsilon \times B$. Take $h \in \mathscr{C}_0(X)$ such that $0 \leq h \leq 1$ and h = 1 on B. In view of Proposition 2.14, we

find that $(\iota_h \rho_n)$ is uniformly integrable in $L^1(\pi)$. By Dunford–Pettis theorem, the sequence $(\iota_h \rho_n)$ converges weakly in $L^1(\pi)$ to $(\iota_h \rho)$. By the Mecke formula, we get that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Upsilon \times X} \upsilon \, \mathsf{D} \rho_n \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m) &= \int_{\Upsilon} \left[\int_{B} \upsilon(\eta - \delta_x, x) \eta(\mathrm{d}x) - \int_{B} \upsilon(\eta, x) m(\mathrm{d}x) \right] \rho_n(\eta) \pi(\mathrm{d}\eta) \\ &= \int_{\Upsilon} F \iota_h \rho_n \mathrm{d}\pi - \int_{\Upsilon} G \rho_n \mathrm{d}\pi, \end{split}$$

where

$$F(\eta) = \int_{B} \frac{v(\eta - \delta_{x}, x)}{\eta(h)} \eta(\mathrm{d}x) \le ||v||_{L^{\infty}(\pi \otimes m)},$$

$$G(\eta) = \int_{B} v(\eta, x) m(\mathrm{d}x) \le m(B) ||v||_{L^{\infty}(\pi \otimes m)}.$$

Thus, both F and $G \in L^{\infty}(\pi)$. By the weak convergence of $(\rho_n)_n$ and $(\iota_h \rho_n)_n$, we thus find that $(D\rho_n)_n$ converges weakly in $L^1_{loc}(\pi \otimes m)$.

By weak lower semi-continuity of \mathcal{I}_{π} on $L^1(\pi) \times L^1_{\mathrm{loc}}(\pi \otimes m)$ established in the first part of the proof,

$$\mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi) = \mathcal{I}_{\pi}(\rho, \mathsf{D}\rho) \leq \liminf_{n} \mathcal{I}_{\pi}(\rho_{n}, \mathsf{D}\rho_{n}) = \liminf_{n} \mathcal{I}(\mu_{n} \mid \pi) \leq b.$$

This shows that $\mu \in A_b$ and concludes the proof.

By Jensen's inequality both $\mathcal{H}(\cdot \mid \pi)$ and $\mathcal{I}(\cdot \mid \pi)$ are decreasing along the dual Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group. In particular, both \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} and \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{I} are stable under the action of P^{\star} . For local Dirichlet forms, in a quite general setting, the semigroup maps L^2 densities to the domain of the Fisher information. In our non-local setting, similar results are not available. Thus, we carry out ad hoc computations owing to the explicit formula of the Dirichlet form in the Poisson setting.

Theorem 3.3. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{D}$ om \mathcal{H} and t > 0.

(i) The Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group is regularizing:

$$(3.9) P_t^{\star} \mu \in \mathfrak{D}om \mathcal{I}.$$

(ii) The Fisher information controls the entropy production along the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group:

(3.10)
$$\mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu\mid\pi) = \mathcal{H}(\mu\mid\pi) - \int_0^t \mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\mu\mid\pi)\mathrm{d}s.$$

(iii) The Ornstein-Uhlenbeck semi-group converges exponentially fast to equilibrium:

(3.11)
$$\mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_{t}^{\star}\mu\mid\pi)\leq\mathsf{e}^{-t}\,\mathcal{H}(\mu\mid\pi).$$

Remark 3.4. (*i*) and (*ii*) are the usual de Bruijn's identity. They are classical for diffusions. See, for instance, [BGL14, Prop. 5.2.2] or [AGS14a, Thm. 4.16]. We provide a proof for Poisson processes, for completeness.

Proof. (i) and (ii) Assume first that $\rho \in L^2(\pi)$. As before, write $\theta(s) := s \log s - s + 1$, for $s \ge 0$ and $\theta(s) := \infty$ otherwise. For all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, set

(3.12)
$$\theta_k(s) := \int_1^s k \wedge \log r \vee (-k) dr, \qquad s \ge 0,$$

and $\theta_k(s) := \infty$ otherwise. Then, (θ_k) is an increasing sequence of Lipschitz functions converging to θ . Let t > 0, by (3.4), $P_t \rho \in \mathcal{D}$ om L. Since θ'_k is Lipschitz, we also find that $\theta'_k(P_t \rho) \in \mathcal{D}$ om \mathcal{E} [BH91, Prop. 3.3.1, p. 14]. Thus,

$$\int \theta_k(\rho) d\pi - \int \theta_k(\mathsf{P}_t \rho) d\pi = -\int_0^t \int \theta_k'(\mathsf{P}_t \rho) \mathsf{LP}_t \rho d\pi dt = \int_0^t \int \mathsf{D}\theta_k'(\mathsf{P}_t \rho) \mathsf{DP}_t \rho d\pi dm.$$

As $k \to \infty$, by monotone convergence, the left-hand side converges to $\mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_t^\star \mu \mid \pi) - \mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi)$. Now, we also claim that the right-hand side is also monotone. First, by convexity of θ_k , we find that the integrand on the right-hand side is non-negative. Differentiating twice yields that $\theta_{k+1} - \theta_k$ is convex. It thus follows, that

$$(3.13) (\theta'_{k+1}(s) - \theta'_{k+1}(r))(s-r) \ge (\theta'_{k}(s) - \theta'_{k}(r))(s-r), s, r \ge 0.$$

The above formula is the monotonicity of the integrand. We obtain (3.10) by monotone convergence. This also gives (3.9) for almost every t. We conclude it holds for every t by continuity.

Now we only assume that $\mu = \rho \pi \in \mathfrak{D}$ om \mathcal{H} For $k \in \mathbb{N}$, let $\mu_k := (\rho \wedge k)\pi/Z_k$. We explicitly compute

$$\mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu_k \mid \pi) = \frac{1}{Z_k} \int \mathsf{D}(\mathsf{P}_t \rho \wedge k) \mathsf{D}\theta_k'(\mathsf{P}_t \rho) \mathrm{d}\pi \mathrm{d}m.$$

Similarly to (3.13), we have for s and $r \ge 0$:

$$(\log(s \wedge (k+1)) - \log(r \wedge (k+1)))(s \wedge (k+1) - r \wedge (k+1)) \ge (\log(s \wedge k) - \log(r \wedge k))(s \wedge k - r \wedge k).$$

By the previous argument for $L^2(\pi)$ -densities, we get that

$$\mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu_k\mid\pi) - \mathcal{H}(\mu_k\mid\pi) = \int_0^t \mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\mu_k\mid\pi) \mathrm{d}s.$$

Since $Z_k \to 1$, we conclude by monotone convergence taking $k \to \infty$. (*iii*) Grönwall lemma together with (*ii*) and (3.7).

Remark 3.5. The statement above and its proof can be immediately extended to functions rather than probability measures. For $\rho \in L^1(\pi)$, write

$$\mathcal{H}_{\pi}(\rho) \coloneqq \int \rho \log \rho d\pi - \int \rho d\pi \log \int \rho d\pi;$$
$$\mathcal{I}_{\pi}(\rho) \coloneqq \int \mathsf{D}\rho \mathsf{D} \log \rho d\pi dm.$$

If $\mathcal{H}_{\pi}(\rho) < \infty$, then

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\,\mathcal{H}_{\pi}(\mathsf{P}_{t}\rho) = -\,\mathcal{I}_{\pi}(\mathsf{P}_{t}\rho), \qquad t > 0.$$

4 Continuity equation

In order to construct a *Riemannian distance*, we first present a notion of *infinitesimal variation* of a curve $\bar{\mu} = (\mu_t) \subset \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. Informally, the variation is obtained through a weak formulation of the *discrete continuity equation* (1.1). In order to give a more rigorous definition let us recall that we write \mathcal{S} for the algebraic linear span of functions of the form e^{-t_h} , $h \in \mathcal{C}_0^+(X)$. For T > 0, we say that $\bar{\mu} = (\mu_t) \in \mathcal{F}([0,T],\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon))$ and $\bar{\nu} = (\nu_t) \in \mathcal{F}([0,T],\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X))$ solve the *continuity equation* on [0,T] provided

$$(\mathbf{C}\mathbf{E}_T) \qquad 0 = \int_0^T \dot{\varphi}(t) \int G \mathrm{d}\mu_t \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \varphi(t) \int \mathsf{D}G \mathrm{d}\nu_t \mathrm{d}t, \qquad G \in \mathcal{S}, \, \varphi \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}((0,T)),$$

and

(4.1)
$$\int_{[0,T]} |\nu_t| (\Upsilon \times B) dt < \infty, \qquad B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X).$$

Here, and in all the paper, $\dot{\varphi}$ indicates a time derivative, and we identify $\bar{\nu}$ with a measure on $\Upsilon \times X \times [0,1]$, by

 $\bar{\nu}(\mathrm{d}\eta\mathrm{d}x\mathrm{d}t) = \int \nu_t(\mathrm{d}\eta\mathrm{d}x)\mathrm{d}t.$

With this identification, (4.1) can be written $\bar{\nu} \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X \times [0,T])$. Informally, we can say that $\bar{\nu}$ is tangent to the curve $\bar{\mu}$.

Remark 4.1. Contrary to (1.1), the curve $\bar{\nu}$ does not depend explicitly on $\bar{\mu}$. When constructing the distance in Section 5.1, the action functional will automatically select solutions of a particular form. Let us start with the following stability property for solutions to the continuity equation.

Lemma 4.2. Let $(\bar{\mu}_n, \bar{\nu}_n)$ be a sequence of solutions to the continuity equation, $\bar{\mu} \in \mathcal{F}([0, T], \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon))$, and $\bar{\nu} \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X \times [0, T])$ such that

$$\mu_{n,t} \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathcal{P}(Y)} \mu_t, \quad a.e. \ t \in [0, T],$$

$$\bar{\nu}_n \xrightarrow[n \to \infty]{\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(Y \times X \times [0, T])} \bar{\nu}.$$

Proof. The convergence of the first term in the right-hand side of (\mathbf{CE}_T) follows from the assumption on $(\bar{\mu}_n)$ together with the dominated convergence theorem. The convergence of the second term in the right-hand side of (4.1) and (\mathbf{CE}_T) follow directly from the assumptions on $(\bar{\nu}_n)$.

4.1 Examples of solutions to the continuity equation

We start with an important example of solutions to the continuity equation built from the dual Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group.

Proposition 4.3. Let $\mu_0 := \rho_0 \pi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. For all $t \geq 0$, set

$$\mu_t := \mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu_0 = \mathsf{P}_t \rho \pi, \qquad \nu_t := -\mathsf{D} \mathsf{P}_t \rho \, \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m).$$

Then $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ *is a solution to the continuity equation.*

Proof. Since $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, by the Mecke identity we have that

(4.2)
$$\int_{Y} \int_{B} \rho(\eta + \delta_{x}) m(\mathrm{d}x) \pi(\mathrm{d}\eta) = I_{\mu}(B) < \infty, \qquad B \in \mathfrak{B}_{0}(X).$$

Thus,

$$\int_0^T |\nu_t| (\Upsilon \times B) \mathrm{d}t = \int_{\Upsilon} \int_{B} |\mathsf{DP}_t \rho| \mathrm{d}m \mathrm{d}\pi \leq \int_0^T \big(I_{\mu_t}(B) + m(B)\big) \mathrm{d}t.$$

The right-hand side is finite by (3.2). This shows that $\bar{\nu}$ satisfies (4.1). Let $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}((0,T))$ and $G \in \mathcal{S}$. We compute

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \dot{\varphi}(t) \int G \mathrm{d}\mu_t \mathrm{d}t &= \int_0^T \dot{\varphi}(t) \int \mathsf{P}_t G \mathrm{d}\mu_0 \mathrm{d}t \\ &= -\int_0^T \varphi(t) \int \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \mathsf{P}_t G \mathrm{d}\mu_0 \mathrm{d}t \\ &= -\int_0^T \varphi(t) \int \mathsf{LP}_t G \mathrm{d}\mu_0 \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \int_0^T \varphi(t) \iint \mathsf{D}G \mathsf{DP}_t \rho \mathrm{d}\pi \mathrm{d}m \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

We have used the symmetry of P with respect to π , an integration by parts with respect to the t variable, (3.3) and (3.4).

The Ornstein-Uhlenbeck flow also preserves solutions of the continuity equation in the following sense.

Proposition 4.4. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. Assume that $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ is a solution to the continuity equation. Consider the measures given for all $t \in [0, T]$ by

$$\mu_t^{\varepsilon} := \mathsf{P}_{\varepsilon}^{\star} \mu_t, \qquad \nu_t^{\varepsilon} := \mathsf{e}^{-\varepsilon} \, \mathsf{P}_{\varepsilon}^{\star} \nu_t.$$

Then $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$ is also a solution to the continuity equation.

Proof. Let $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}$ and $G \in \mathscr{S}$. Then, $P_{\varepsilon}G \in \mathscr{S}$. By (\mathbf{CE}_T) for $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$

$$0 = \int_0^T \dot{\varphi}_t \int \mathsf{P}_{\varepsilon} G \mathrm{d}\mu_t \mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \varphi_t \int \mathsf{D}\mathsf{P}_{\varepsilon} G \mathrm{d}\nu_t \mathrm{d}t.$$

We conclude (\mathbf{CE}_T) for $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$, since, by (\mathbf{BE}) , $\mathsf{DP}_{\varepsilon}G = \mathsf{e}^{-\varepsilon}\,\mathsf{P}_{\varepsilon}\mathsf{D}G$. Since P^{\star} acts on $\bar{\nu}$ only on the first coordinate, if $\bar{\nu}$ satisfies (4.1) so does $\mathsf{P}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}\bar{\nu}$.

Solutions to the continuity equation are also invariant under time reparametrization.

Lemma 4.5 ([AGS08, Lemma 8.1.3]). Consider a strictly increasing and absolutely continuous function λ : $[0,T'] \rightarrow [0,T]$, such that its inverse is also absolutely continuous. Then $(\bar{\mu},\bar{\nu})$ solves (\mathbf{CE}_T) if and only if $(\bar{\mu} \circ \lambda, \lambda' \cdot \bar{\nu} \circ \lambda)$ solves the continuity equation on (0,T').

4.2 Extending the notion of solutions

Let \mathcal{H} be the space of all $G \in \mathcal{F}_b(\Upsilon)$ such that $DG \in \mathcal{F}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. (\mathbf{CE}_T) makes sense for every $F \in \mathcal{H}$. In particular, it is possible to define another notion of solution to the continuity equation by replacing \mathcal{S} by \mathcal{H} in (\mathbf{CE}_T). The goal of this section is to shows that it yields the same notion of solution.

4.2.1 The algebra of local sets in Υ

Let $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ be *closed*. We write $\mathfrak{A}_B(Y)$ for the set of all $A \in \mathfrak{B}(Y)$ such that

$$\forall x \in X \setminus B \qquad \eta \in A \Leftrightarrow \eta + \delta_x \in A.$$

It is easily verified that $\mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)$ is a sub- σ -algebra of $\mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon)$ and that F is $\mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)$ -measurable if and only if DF vanishes outside of $\Upsilon \times B$. Let Υ_B be the set of configurations supported in B. Since B is closed, Υ_B is closed subset of Υ , by the Portmanteau theorem, and thus it is a Polish space. We shall need the following lemma. Let $\mathfrak{B}_B(\Upsilon) = \sigma(\iota_{B'}: B' \in \mathfrak{B}_B(X))$, and write $\operatorname{pr}_B: \Upsilon \to \Upsilon_B$ for the canonical projection.

Lemma 4.6. The following σ -algebras coincide

$$\mathfrak{B}_B(\Upsilon) = \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) = \operatorname{pr}_B^{-1} \mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon_B).$$

Proof. Let $B' \in \mathfrak{B}_B(X)$. Since $\iota_{B'}$ is $\mathfrak{A}_B(Y)$ -measurable, we find that $\mathfrak{B}_B(Y) \subset \mathfrak{A}_B(Y)$. On the other hand, $\mathfrak{B}(Y)$ is generated by all sets of the form

$$\{\eta(C_1) = k_1, \dots, \eta(C_l) = k_l\}, \qquad l \in \mathbb{N}, (C_i) \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)^l, (k_i) \in \mathbb{N}^l.$$

Since $\mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)$ is a sub- σ -algebra of $\mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon)$, it is generated by those sets in (4.3) that are also in $\mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)$. It is readily verified that every set A as in (4.3) satisfies $A \in \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)$ if and only if $C_i \subset B$ for all i. Thus $\mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \subset \operatorname{pr}_B^{-1}\mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon)$. The fact that $\mathfrak{B}_B(\Upsilon)$ and $\operatorname{pr}_B^{-1}\mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon)$ coincide is standard.

Finally, let us define the algebra

$$\mathfrak{A}(\Upsilon) := \bigcup_{R} \mathfrak{A}_{R}(\Upsilon).$$

The reader can easily verify that $\mathfrak{U}(\Upsilon)$ is an algebra but in general not a σ -algebra. We have that \mathcal{H} is the set of $F \in \mathcal{F}_b(\Upsilon)$ that are also $\mathfrak{U}(\Upsilon)$ -measurable.

4.2.2 The topology of \mathcal{H} and $\mathcal{C}_T^1(\mathcal{H})$

For all closed $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$, we write \mathcal{H}_B for the space of $G \in \mathcal{H}$, such that DG = 0 outside of $\Upsilon \times B$. Alternatively, \mathcal{H}_B is the set of $F \in \mathcal{F}_b(\Upsilon)$ that are $\mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)$ -measurable. The space \mathcal{H}_B is a Banach space for the norm

$$||G||_{\mathcal{H}_{R}} \coloneqq ||G||_{\mathcal{F}_{b}(\Upsilon)} + ||\mathsf{D}G||_{\mathcal{F}_{b}(\Upsilon \times X)}.$$

The topology on \mathscr{H} is the strict inductive limit in $n \in \mathbb{N}$ of the Banach spaces $\mathscr{H}_n = \mathscr{H}_{B(o,n)}$, for any fixed $o \in X$. By [Bou81, Prop. 9 (iii), p. II.34], \mathscr{H} is complete. We consider the space $\mathscr{C}^1_c((0,T),\mathscr{H})$ of continuously differentiable and compactly supported functions $F:(0,T)\to\mathscr{H}$. In order to equip $\mathscr{C}^1_c((0,T),\mathscr{H})$ with a suitable topology let us introduce some notation. Given a locally convex linear space E, we write $\mathscr{C}^1_T(E) = \mathscr{C}^1_c((0,T),E)$, and, for $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $\mathscr{C}^1_{T,n}(E)$ for the space of those functions F that are supported on [1/n,T-1/n]. We omit E from the notation when $E=\mathbb{R}$. For all E and E and E is a space of the space of the space of the space of the space of those functions topology in E in the space of the spa

Lemma 4.7. The set $\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}((0,T))$ is dense in $\mathscr{C}_T^1(\mathcal{H})$.

Proof. Let $F \in \mathcal{C}^1_T(\mathcal{H})$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. There exists $n \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $F \in \mathcal{C}^1_{T,n}(\mathcal{H}_n)$. Since $\mathcal{H}_n \otimes \mathcal{C}^1_{T,n}$ is dense in $\mathcal{C}^1_{T,n}(\mathcal{H}_n)$, there exists $F_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{H}_n \otimes \mathcal{C}^1_{T,n} \subset \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{C}^1_T$ such that

$$||F_{\varepsilon} - F||_n \le \varepsilon.$$

Let p be a continuous seminorm on $\mathscr{C}^1_T(\mathscr{H})$. By the universal property of inductive limits [Bou81, Prop. 5, p. II.29], there exists c > 0 such that

$$p(F_{\varepsilon} - F) \le c||F_{\varepsilon} - F||_n \le c\varepsilon.$$

Thus $\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{C}^1_T$ is dense in $\mathscr{C}^1_T(\mathscr{H})$. We obtain that $\mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{C}^\infty_c((0,T))$ is dense by mollification. \square

4.2.3 The continuity equation holds on $\mathscr{C}_T^1(\mathscr{H})$

Proposition 4.8. Let $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ be a solution to the continuity equation. Then,

(4.4)
$$\int_0^T \mu_t(\dot{F}_t) dt + \int_0^T \nu_t(\mathsf{D}F_t) dt = 0, \qquad F \in \mathscr{C}^1_T(\mathscr{H}).$$

Proof. Let $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ be a solution to the continuity equation. We split the proof in two parts.

(4.4) holds for $F = G \otimes \varphi \in \mathcal{H} \otimes \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}((0,T))$. Let $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ closed. Write $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ for the space of functions $G \in \mathcal{H}_B$ such that (\mathbf{CE}_T) holds for $G \otimes \varphi$, for all $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}((0,T))$. Since (\mathbf{CE}_T) is linear with respect to G, $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ is a linear space containing constants.

Take $(G_n) \subset \hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ converging uniformly to some G. Firstly, since \mathcal{H}_B is a Banach space for the uniform convergence, $G \in \mathcal{H}_B$. Secondly, we have that $G_n \to G$ uniformly on Υ and $\mathsf{D}G_n \to \mathsf{D}G$ uniformly on $\Upsilon \times B$. Thus, applying (\mathbf{CE}_T) to $G_n \otimes \varphi$, passing to the limit, and invoking Lebesgue dominated convergence theorem, we find that $G \otimes \varphi$ solves (\mathbf{CE}_T) . This shows that $G \in \hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$, and that $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ is closed under uniform convergence.

Take $(G_n) \subset \hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ an increasing and bounded sequence of non-negative functions. Write $G = \lim_n G_n$. By monotone convergence, we get that

$$\int_0^T \dot{\varphi}(t)\mu_t(G_n)dt \xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{} \int_0^T \dot{\varphi}(t)\mu_t(G)dt.$$

By (4.1) and definition of \mathcal{H}_B , $|\mathsf{D}G_n\otimes\varphi|\leq c1_{\varUpsilon\times B\times[0,T]}\in L^1(\bar{\nu})$. Thus, by dominated convergence,

$$\bar{\nu}(\mathsf{D}G_n\otimes\varphi)\xrightarrow[n\to\infty]{}\bar{\nu}(\mathsf{D}G\otimes\varphi).$$

This shows that $G \in \hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$, and that $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ is stable under uniformly bounded monotone convergence. Thus, $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ satisfies the assumptions of the monotone class theorem [DM75, Thm. 21, p. 20]. Let \mathcal{S}_B be the linear span of functions of the form $e^{-\iota_h}$ for $h \in \mathcal{C}_{b,B}(X)$. By construction, $\mathcal{S}_B \subset \hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ and \mathcal{S}_B is stable by multiplication. Thus, $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_B$ contains all the bounded functions measurable with respect to the σ -algebra generated by \mathcal{S}_B . An argument similar to that of [Las16, Lem. 2] shows that this σ -algebra contains all the ι_h for $h \in \mathcal{C}_{b,B}(X)$ and $B' \subset B$. By Lemma 4.6, this σ -algebra is $\mathfrak{A}_B(Y)$. This shows that $\hat{\mathcal{H}}_B = \mathcal{H}_B$.

Take $G \in \mathcal{H}$. By definition, there exists $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ such that $G \in \mathcal{H}_B$. We conclude by the first part.

(4.4) holds for $F \in \mathscr{C}^1_T(\mathscr{H})$. By Lemma 4.7, we can find $(F_n) \subset \mathscr{H} \otimes \mathscr{C}^\infty_c((0,T))$ converging to F in $\mathscr{C}^1_T(\mathscr{H})$. By the previous part of the proof, we have that

$$\bar{\mu}(\dot{F}_n) + \bar{\nu}(F_n) = 0.$$

By definition of the convergence on $\mathscr{C}^1_T(\mathscr{H})$, we can apply dominated convergence to conclude. \square

4.3 Properties of the continuity equation

In this section we obtain several results concerning the evolution of certain quantities along the continuity equation. All the results are a consequence of the following simple observation.

Lemma 4.9. Take $G \in \mathcal{H}$ and $B_G \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ so that DG = 0 outside of $\Upsilon \times B_G$. Assume that $\varphi \otimes G$ satisfy (\mathbf{CE}_T) for all $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}((0,T))$. Then, there exists $L_G \in \mathfrak{B}((0,T))$ of full measure such that

(4.5)
$$\mu_t(G) - \mu_s(G) \le 2||G||_{\infty} \int_s^t |\nu_r|(\Upsilon \times B_G) dr, \qquad t, s \in L_G.$$

Proof. The assumptions ensure that $t \mapsto \mu_t(G) \in W^{1,1}(0,T)$ with distributional derivative given by

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\mu_t(G) = \nu_t(\mathsf{D}G), \qquad t \in [0,T].$$

For short, we write $N_t(B) = |\nu_t|(\Upsilon \times B)$ for $t \in [0, T]$ and $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$. By assumption, there exists $B_G \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ such that DG = 0 outside of $\Upsilon \times B_G$. We then have that

$$|\dot{\mu}_t(G)| \le 2N_t(B_G) \|DG\|_{\infty} \le N_t(B_G) \|G\|_{\infty}, \quad t \in [0, T].$$

By Lebesgue differentiation theorem, there exists $L_G \subset \mathfrak{B}(0,T)$ of full measure such that

$$\dot{\mu}_t(G) = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{2\varepsilon} \int_{t-\varepsilon}^{t+\varepsilon} \mu_s(G) \mathrm{d}s, \qquad t \in L_G.$$

This gives (4.5) and concludes the proof.

4.3.1 The intensity measure along the continuity equation

A first application of this result is the following control on the intensity measure.

Theorem 4.10. Let $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ be a solution to the continuity equation with $\mu_0 \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. Then, for almost every $t \in [0, T]$, $\mu_t \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and

$$I_{\mu_t}(B) = I_{\mu_0}(B) + \int_0^t \nu_s(\Upsilon \times B) \mathrm{d}s, \qquad B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X).$$

Proof. Let $h \in \mathcal{F}_0(X)$. By Proposition 4.8, we have that the continuity equation holds for $\iota_h \otimes \varphi$, $\varphi \in \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}((0,T))$. Take $(h_k) \subset \mathscr{C}_0(X)$ as in Theorem 2.2 (i). For all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, take $B_k \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ such that $h_k = 0$ outside of B_k . We set

$$a_k := 2^{-k} \Big(1 \wedge |\bar{\nu}| (\Upsilon \times B_k \times [0, T])^{-1} \Big).$$

By construction of the h_k 's, the distance

$$\rho(\lambda, \sigma) := \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} a_k |(\lambda - \sigma)(h_k)|, \qquad \lambda, \, \sigma \in \mathcal{M}_0^+(X),$$

metrizes the vague topology on $\mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$.

Now, we invoke Lemma 4.9, with $G_k = \iota_{h_k}$ and $B_{G_k} = B_k$. This yields a set $L := \bigcap_k L_{G_k}$ of full measure, such that

$$\rho(I_{\mu_t}, I_{\mu_s}) \le c \int_s^t \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} a_k |\nu_r| (\Upsilon \times B_r) \le c |t - s|, \qquad s, t \in L.$$

This shows that $t\mapsto I_{\mu_t}\in \mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$ is uniformly continuous on the dense set $L\subset [0,T]$. By the theorem of continuation of uniformly continuous maps [Bou71, II, p. 20, Thm. 2], we can extend it to a continuous map $\sigma:[0,T]\to \mathcal{M}_0^+(X)$.

Since, $\sigma_t = I_{\mu_t}$ for almost every $t \in [0, T]$, we get that

$$\int_0^T \dot{\varphi}(t)\sigma_t(h)\mathrm{d}t + \int_0^T \varphi(t)\sigma_t(1\otimes h)\mathrm{d}t = 0, \qquad h \in \mathcal{F}_0(X), \ \varphi \in \mathscr{C}_c^\infty((0,T)).$$

Taking a sequence $(\varphi_l) \subset \mathscr{C}_c^{\infty}((0,1))$ such that, as $l \to \infty$, $\varphi_l \to 1_{[t_0,t_1]}$ and $\dot{\varphi}_l \to \delta_{t_0} - \delta_{t_1}$, we thus obtain that

$$\sigma_{t_1}(h) = \sigma_{t_0}(h) + \int_0^t \nu_s(\Upsilon \otimes h), \qquad h \in \mathcal{F}_0(X).$$

The claim follows immediately.

4.3.2 Existence of continuous solutions

Theorem 4.11. Every solution $(\bar{\mu}', \bar{\nu})$ to the continuity equation with $\mu_0 \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ admits a representative $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ such that $[0, T] \ni t \mapsto \mu_t \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ is continuous. Moreover, for all t_0 and $t_1 \in [0, T]$:

(4.6)
$$\mu_{t_1}(F_{t_1}) - \mu_{t_0}(F_{t_0}) = \int_{t_0}^{t_1} \mu_t(\dot{F}_t) + \nu_t(\mathsf{D}F_t) \mathrm{d}t, \qquad F \in \mathscr{C}^1([0,T],\mathscr{H}).$$

Proof. We consider the non-negative measure

$$\lambda(B) = I_{\mu_0}(B) + \int_0^T |\nu_s|(\Upsilon \times B) ds, \qquad B \in \mathfrak{B}(X).$$

In view of Lemma 2.5 and Theorem 4.10, we find a countable set $(G_k) = \mathcal{G}^{\lambda} \subset \mathcal{G}$ such that on $\{\mu'_t : t \in [0,T]\}$ the topology of $\mathcal{P}(Y)$ is induced by that of the simple convergence on \mathcal{G}^{λ} . For all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, write B_k for a bounded set such that $G_k \in \mathcal{H}_{B_k}$, and set

$$\begin{aligned} b_k &= 2^{-k} \Big(1 \wedge |\bar{\nu}| (\Upsilon \times B_k \times [0, T])^{-1} \Big), \\ \delta(\mu_t', \mu_s') &= \sum_{k \in \mathbb{N}} b_k |(\mu_t - \mu_s)(G_k)|, \qquad t, s \in [0, T]. \end{aligned}$$

Then δ is a distance on (μ'_t) metrizing the topology of $\mathcal{P}(\varUpsilon)$. Invoking Lemma 4.9 and arguing as in the proof of Theorem 4.10 shows that on the dense subset $L = \cap L_{G_k}$, the map $t \mapsto \mu'_t \in \mathcal{P}(\varUpsilon)$ is uniformly continuous with respect to δ . We can then extend it to a continuous map $t \mapsto \mu_t \in \mathcal{P}(\varUpsilon)$. The fact that $\bar{\mu}$ actually takes its values in $\mathcal{P}_1(\varUpsilon)$ and is continuous is a consequence of Theorem 4.10 and Proposition 2.12. Formula (4.6) is obtained for functions $F \in \mathcal{C}^1_T(\mathcal{H})$ from (4.4) and by considering a sequence of smooth functions on (t_0, t_1) and converging to $1_{(t_0, t_1)}$ and whose derivatives converges to $\delta_{t_0} - \delta_{t_1}$ in the sense of distributions (see [Erb14, Lem. 3.1] for details). This extends to $F \in \mathcal{C}^1([0, T], \mathcal{H})$ by approximation.

Corollary 4.12. *If* $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ *is a solution with* $\mu_0 \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ *, we have that*

(4.7)
$$\mu_t(F) = \mu_0(F) + \int_0^t \nu_s(\mathsf{D}F) \mathrm{d}s, \qquad F \in \mathcal{H}.$$

Proof. Apply (4.6) with $F_t = F$ for all $t \in [0, T]$.

4.3.3 The relative entropy along the continuity equation

In (3.10), we have that the Fisher information controls the entropy production along P^* . A similar result holds for the entropy along the continuity equation.

Theorem 4.13. Let $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ be a solution to the continuity equation such that, for all $t \in [0, T]$, $\mu_t = \rho_t \pi \in \mathcal{D}$ om \mathcal{H} and $\nu_t = w_t(\pi \otimes m)$, and

(4.8)
$$\int_0^T \mathcal{I}(\mu_t \mid \pi) dt + \int_0^T \int |w_t|^2 \frac{\mathsf{D} \log \rho_t}{\mathsf{D} \rho_t} dt < \infty.$$

Then, for all $t \in [0, T]$:

(4.9)
$$\mathcal{H}(\mu_t \mid \pi) - \mathcal{H}(\mu_0 \mid \pi) = \int_0^t \int \mathsf{D} \log \rho_s \mathrm{d}\nu_s \mathrm{d}s.$$

Remark 4.14. Let us comment on the assumption (4.8). First of all by the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality this ensures that $\mathsf{D}\log\rho\in L^1(\bar\nu)$, so that the right-hand side of (4.9) is well-defined. Secondly, the condition on the Fisher information is not very restrictive. Indeed, if we start with a solution of the continuity equation in $\mathfrak{D}\mathrm{om}\,\mathcal{H}$, then by Proposition 4.3 we can always perturb it by the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group in order to have a solution satisfying the finiteness of the Fisher entropy by (3.10). Lastly, the condition involving the second integral in (4.8) might seem more exotic. However, this quantity plays a natural role in the definition of the action and the variational distance in the next section.

Remark 4.15. Let us consider $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ a solution to the continuity equation given by the dual Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group, as in Proposition 4.3. In this case,

$$\int_0^t \int \mathsf{D} \log \rho_s \mathrm{d}\nu_s \mathrm{d}s = -\int_0^t \mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star} \mu_0 \mid \pi) \mathrm{d}s,$$

and formula (3.10) regarding the entropy production along the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group coincides with (4.9).

Proof. For convenience, we first give a short heuristic proof of the statement that goes back at least to the seminal work of [OV00]. We thus assume that $\rho \in \mathcal{C}^1([0,T],\mathcal{H})$, with ρ bounded away from 0. Since

$$D\log\rho = \log(\rho + D\rho) - \log\rho,$$

we find that $\log \rho$ is also in $\mathscr{C}^1([0,T],\mathscr{H})$. Applying (4.6) to $F = \log \rho$ yields

$$\mathcal{H}(\mu_t \mid \pi) - \mathcal{H}(\mu_0 \mid \pi) = \int_0^t \int \dot{\rho}_s d\pi ds + \int_0^t \int D \log \rho_s d\nu_s ds.$$

Since ρ_t is a probability density for all t, $\int \dot{\rho}_s d\pi = 0$. This shows the claim in this case. The rest of the proof formalizes this idea for general densities. We stress however that all the ideas are contained in this short argument.

Now, we only assume that $\mathsf{D}\log\rho\in L^1(\bar{\nu})$. We shall need two stability results for solutions to the continuity equation under regularization.

Stability of the continuity equation under time regularization. Let ψ be smooth, compactly supported, non-negative, symmetric mollifier on \mathbb{R} , and $\varepsilon > 0$. We define

$$\psi_{\varepsilon} \coloneqq \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \psi \left(\frac{\cdot}{\varepsilon} \right)$$

$$\rho_{t}^{\varepsilon} \coloneqq \int_{0}^{T} \rho_{\tau} \psi_{\varepsilon}(t - \tau) d\tau,$$

$$w_{t}^{\varepsilon} \coloneqq \int_{0}^{T} w_{\tau} \psi_{\varepsilon}(t - \tau) d\tau.$$

Then $\bar{\rho}^{\varepsilon} \in \mathscr{C}^{1}([0,T],L^{1}(\pi))$. Setting $\mu_{t}^{\varepsilon} \coloneqq \rho_{t}^{\varepsilon}\pi$ and $\nu_{t}^{\varepsilon} \coloneqq w_{t}^{\varepsilon}(\pi \otimes m)$, we also have that $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon},\bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$ solves the continuity equation. Indeed taking $F \in \mathscr{C}_{T}(\mathscr{H})$, and letting

$$F_{\tau}^{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{T} F_{t} \psi \left(\frac{\tau - t}{\varepsilon} \right) dt,$$

we have that $F_{\tau}^{\varepsilon} \in \mathscr{C}_{T}(\mathscr{H})$ for all sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$, and

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \dot{F}_t \mathrm{d}\mu_t^\varepsilon \mathrm{d}t &= \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \int_0^T \int \dot{F}_t \psi \Big(\frac{t-\tau}{\varepsilon} \Big) \rho_\tau \mathrm{d}\pi \mathrm{d}t \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= \int_0^T \int \dot{F}_\tau^\varepsilon \rho_\tau \mathrm{d}\pi \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= - \int_0^T \int \mathrm{D}F_\tau^\varepsilon w_\tau \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m) \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &= - \int_0^T \mathrm{D}F_t w_t^\varepsilon \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m) \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Since $F \in \mathscr{C}_T(\mathscr{H})$ is arbitrary, (\mathbf{CE}_T) holds for $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$. Moreover, by construction, $\bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon}$ satisfies (4.1). This shows that $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$ is a solution to the continuity equation.

Stability of the continuity equation under space regularization. Now, fix $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$, and define

$$\rho_t^B := \mathbb{E}_{\pi}[\rho_t \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(Y)],
w_t^B := \mathbb{E}_{\pi \otimes m}[w_t 1_{Y \times B} \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(Y) \otimes \mathfrak{B}_B(X)].$$

See, for instance, [DM80, §§39–43, pp. 36–43] for reminders on conditional expectations and martingales with respect to σ -finite measures. In a more prosaic way, we have that

$$(4.10) w_t^B(\cdot, x) = 1_B(x) \mathbb{E}_{\pi}[w_t(\cdot, x) \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)], x \in X.$$

In view of the independence property of Poisson point processes, we have the explicit formula:

$$\rho_t^B(\eta) = \int \rho_t(\eta_{\uparrow B} + \xi) \pi_{X \setminus B}(\mathrm{d}\xi),$$

where, for $C \in \mathfrak{B}(X)$, π_C is a Poisson point process with intensity $m_{\uparrow C}$. We let $\mu_t^B = \rho_t^B \pi$ and $\nu_t^B = w_t^B (\pi \otimes m)$, and we claim that $(\bar{\mu}^B, \bar{\nu}^B)$ is a solution to the continuity equation. By the tower property of conditional expectation

$$|\bar{\nu}^B|(\Upsilon \times X \times [0,T]) = \int_0^T \mathbb{E}_{\pi \otimes m} [|w_t^B|] \mathrm{d}t \leq \int_0^T \mathbb{E}_{\pi \otimes m} [|w_t 1_{\Upsilon \times B}|] \mathrm{d}t = |\bar{\nu}|(\Upsilon \times B \times [0,T]) < \infty.$$

Thus, \bar{v}^B satisfies (4.1). Now, let u be bounded and $\mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \otimes \mathfrak{B}_B(X)$ -measurable. In view, of the explicit formula

$$\mathsf{D}^{\star}(u1_{\Upsilon\times B})(\eta) = \int_{\mathcal{B}} u(\eta - \delta_{x}, x)\eta(\mathrm{d}x) - \int_{\mathcal{B}} u(\eta, x)m(\mathrm{d}x),$$

we find that, for $y \notin B$,

$$\mathsf{D}^{\star}(1_{\Upsilon\times B}u)(\eta+\delta_y) = \int_{\mathbb{R}} (\eta-\delta_x+\delta_y,x)(\eta+\delta_y)(\mathrm{d}x) - \int_{\mathbb{R}} u(\eta+\delta_y,x)m(\mathrm{d}x) = \mathsf{D}^{\star}(u1_{\Upsilon\times B})(\eta).$$

Thus, $D^*(1_{Y \times B} u)$ is $\mathfrak{A}_B(Y)$ -measurable. For $F \in \mathcal{H}$, by the Mecke formula, we thus find that

$$\begin{split} \int \mathsf{D} F 1_{Y \times B} u \mathrm{d} \pi \mathrm{d} m &= \int F \mathsf{D}^{\star} (1_{Y \times B} u) \mathrm{d} \pi \\ &= \int \mathbb{E}_{\pi} [F \mid \mathfrak{A}_{B}(Y)] \mathsf{D}^{\star} (1_{Y \times B} u) \mathrm{d} \pi \\ &= \int \mathsf{D} \, \mathbb{E}_{\pi} [F \mid \mathfrak{A}_{B}(Y)] u \mathrm{d} \pi \mathrm{d} m. \end{split}$$

Since u was arbitrary,

$$\mathbb{E}_{\pi \otimes m}[\mathrm{D}F \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \otimes \mathfrak{B}_B(X)] 1_{\Upsilon \times B} = \mathrm{D}\,\mathbb{E}_{\pi}[F \mid \mathfrak{A}_B].$$

Thus, for $F \in \mathscr{C}_T(\mathscr{H})$,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^T \int \dot{F}_t \mathrm{d}\mu_t^B \mathrm{d}t &= \int_0^T \int \mathbb{E}_\pi \big[\dot{F}_t \ \big| \ \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \big] \mathrm{d}\mu_t \mathrm{d}t \\ &= - \int_0^T \int \mathsf{D} \, \mathbb{E}_\pi \big[F_t \ \big| \ \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \big] w_t \mathrm{d}\pi \mathrm{d}m \mathrm{d}t \\ &= - \int_0^T \int \mathsf{D} F_t \, \mathbb{E}_{\pi \otimes m} [w_t \mathbf{1}_{\Upsilon \times B} \ \big| \ \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \otimes \mathfrak{B}_B(X) \big]. \end{split}$$

This shows that $(\bar{\mu}^B, \bar{\nu}^B)$ solves (\mathbf{CE}_T) .

Combining the two regularizations. Now we define

$$\rho_t^{\varepsilon,B} = \mathbb{E}_{\pi} [\rho_t^{\varepsilon} \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)],
w_t^{\varepsilon,B} = \mathbb{E}_{\pi \otimes m} [w_t^{\varepsilon} 1_{\Upsilon \times B} \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \otimes \mathfrak{B}_B(X)].$$

We also consider the two associated measures $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon,B},\bar{v}^{\varepsilon,B})$. Note that the two regularizations commute, that is we would get the same objects by first applying the regularization in space and then in time. From what precedes, we have that $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon,B},\bar{v}^{\varepsilon,B})$ is a solution to the continuity equation. Differentiating under the integral sign, we get that $\bar{\rho}^{\varepsilon,B} \in \mathscr{C}^1([0,T],L^1(\pi))$. The two previous facts show that $\dot{\rho}^{\varepsilon,B}_t = \mathsf{D}^\star w_t^{\varepsilon,B}$. Fix $k \in \mathbb{N}$, recall θ_k defined in (3.12). We then find that

$$\int \theta_k(\rho_t^{\varepsilon,B}) d\pi - \int \theta_k(\rho_0^{\varepsilon,B}) d\pi = \int_0^t \int \theta_k'(\rho_s^{\varepsilon,B}) \mathsf{D}^* w_s^{\varepsilon,B} d\pi ds$$
$$= \int_0^t \iint \mathsf{D}\theta_k'(\rho_s^{\varepsilon,B}) w_s^{\varepsilon,B} d\pi dm ds.$$

As $\varepsilon \to 0$, we have that $\bar{\rho}^{\varepsilon,B} \to \bar{\rho}^B$ in $\mathscr{C}^0([0,T],L^1(\pi))$, and $w_s^{\varepsilon,B} \to w_s^B$ in $L^1(\pi \otimes m)$ for all almost every $s \in [0,T]$. Thus by dominated convergence, we get that

$$\int \theta_k(\rho_t^B) d\pi - \int \theta_k(\rho_0^B) d\pi = \int_0^t \iint D\theta_k'(\rho_s^B) w_s^B d\pi dm ds = \int_0^t \int \theta_k'(\rho_s^B) D^* w_s^B d\pi ds.$$

By monotone convergence as $k \to \infty$, we find that

$$(4.11) \qquad \mathcal{H}(\mu_t^B \mid \pi) - \mathcal{H}(\mu_0^B \mid \pi) = \int_0^t \int \log \rho_s^B \mathsf{D}^* w_s^B \mathrm{d}\pi \mathrm{d}s = \int_0^t \iint \mathsf{D} \log \rho_s^B w_s^B \mathrm{d}\pi \mathrm{d}m \mathrm{d}s.$$

By the theorem of almost sure convergence of martingales, we find that $\rho_t^B \to \rho_t$ almost surely as $B \to X$. By [DM80, Eq. 103.1, p. 186], we have that $\sup_B \rho_t^B \in L \log L(\pi)$. Thus, the martingale also converges in $L \log L(\pi)$ by dominated convergence. It follows that we can take the limit in the left-hand side of (4.11).

We now show that we can also pass to the limit in the right-hand side. First of all, by the theorem of almost sure convergence of martingales which also holds for σ -finite measures [DM80, §41, p. 37], we have that $w^B \to w$ almost surely. Thus in order to conclude it suffices to show that $(D \log \rho^B w^B)$ is uniformly integrable in $L^1(\pi \otimes m \otimes dt)$. Firstly, by the convexity of $(s,t) \mapsto (\log s - \log t)(s-t)$ and Jensen's inequality for conditional expectation

$$\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t^B \mathsf{D}_x \rho_t^B \leq \mathbb{E}_{\pi} [\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t \mathsf{D}_x \rho_t \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)].$$

Secondly, by the convexity of $(w, s, t) \mapsto w^2(\log s - \log t)/(s - t)$, Jensen's inequality for conditional expectation, and (4.10)

$$\left(\left|w_t^B(\cdot,x)\right|^2 \frac{\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t^B}{\mathsf{D}_x \rho_t^B}\right) \leq \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \left[w_t^2(\cdot,x) \frac{\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t}{\mathsf{D}_x \rho_t} \ \middle| \ \mathfrak{A}_B(\varUpsilon)\right].$$

Finally, writing

$$|\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t^B w_t^B(\cdot, x)|^2 = (\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t^B \mathsf{D}_x \rho_t^B) \bigg(\Big| w_t^B(\cdot, x) \Big|^2 \frac{\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t^B}{\mathsf{D}_x \rho_t^B} \bigg),$$

and using the two previous inequalities together with $2ab \le a^2 + b^2$ yields

$$|\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t^B w_t^B| \le \frac{1}{2} \bigg(\mathbb{E}_{\pi} [\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t \mathsf{D}_x \rho_t \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon)] + \mathbb{E}_{\pi} \bigg[w_t^2(\cdot, x) \frac{\mathsf{D}_x \log \rho_t}{\mathsf{D}_x \rho_t} \mid \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \bigg] \bigg).$$

Since this holds for all $x \in B$ and all $t \in [0, T]$, we actually have shown that

$$|\mathsf{D}\log\rho^B w^B| \leq \mathbb{E}_{\pi \otimes m \otimes \mathrm{d}t} \bigg[\frac{1}{2} \bigg(\mathsf{D}\log\rho \mathsf{D}\rho + w^2 \frac{\mathsf{D}\log\rho}{\mathsf{D}\rho} \bigg) \bigg| \, \mathfrak{A}_B(\Upsilon) \otimes \mathfrak{B}_B(X) \otimes \mathfrak{B}(0,T) \bigg].$$

By [DM80, Thm. 41.1, p. 38] and (4.8), the right-hand side is the sum of two uniformly integrable martingales and is thus uniformly integrable. \Box

5 Synthetic Ricci curvature bounds on the Poisson space

5.1 A variational distance on the Poisson space

5.1.1 The Lagrangian functional

In view of what precedes, it is natural to consider vector fields to be elements of $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. Let us define the *length* of the tangent vector ν at μ . We set

$$\theta(s,t) \coloneqq \frac{s-t}{\log s - \log t}, \quad s,t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

and

$$\alpha(s,t,w) \coloneqq \frac{|w|^2}{\theta(s,t)}, \qquad w \in \mathbb{R}, \, s,t \in \mathbb{R}_+,$$

where by convention 0/0 := 0. For convenience, for $F \in \mathcal{F}_+(\Upsilon)$ we also write

$$\hat{F}(\eta, x) = \theta \big(F(\eta), F(\eta + \delta_x) \big) = \frac{\mathsf{D}_x F(\eta)}{\mathsf{D}_x \log F(\eta)}, \qquad \eta \in \Upsilon, \, x \in X.$$

For all $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$, let us define

$$\mathcal{L}(\mu,\nu) = \int \alpha \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu \otimes m}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}, \frac{\mathrm{d}C_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}, \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\sigma} \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma,$$

where $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ is non-negative such that $\mu \otimes \pi$, C_{μ} , and ν are absolutely continuous with respect to σ . By homogeneity, the value of the action is independent of the choice of σ . Provided $\mu = \rho \pi$ and $\nu = w(\pi \otimes m)$, in view of (2.2), we can choose $\sigma = \pi \otimes m$, and we find that:

$$\mathcal{L}(\mu,\nu) = \int \alpha \left(\rho(\eta), \rho(\eta + \delta_x), w(\eta, x)\right) \pi(\mathrm{d}\eta) m(\mathrm{d}x) = \int \frac{|w|^2}{\hat{\rho}} \mathrm{d}\pi \mathrm{d}m.$$

We can then interpret $\mathcal{L}(\mu, \nu)$ as the norm of the "tangent vector" ν in the "tangent space" to $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ at $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1$.

In view of the convexity of α we immediately get the following lemma.

Lemma 5.1. *The Lagrangian* \mathcal{L} *is jointly convex.*

Lemma 5.2. The map $\mathcal{L}: \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) \times \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X) \to \mathbb{R}_+$ is lower semi-continuous.

Proof. By Theorem 2.11 and since $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ is metrizable, it is enough to establish sequential lower semi-continuity. Let $(\mu_n) \subset \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ converging to $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $(\nu_n) \subset \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ converging to $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. Since α is lower semi-continuous and convex we can write

$$\alpha(p) = \sup \{ p \cdot q - \alpha^*(q) : q \in \mathbb{Q}^3 \},$$

where α^* is the Fenchel conjugate of α . For p and $q \in \mathbb{Q}^3$, we let $\alpha_q(p) = p \cdot q - \alpha^*(q)$. Then, by monotone convergence,

(5.1)
$$\mathcal{L}(\mu, \nu) = \int \sup_{q \in \mathbb{Q}^3} \alpha_q \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu \otimes m}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}, \frac{\mathrm{d}C_\mu}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}, \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\sigma} \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma$$
$$= \sup_{q \in \mathbb{Q}^3} \int \alpha_q \left(\frac{\mathrm{d}\mu \otimes m}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}, \frac{\mathrm{d}C_\mu}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}, \frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\sigma} \right) \mathrm{d}\sigma.$$

By (ii) in Proposition 2.12, we find that, for q fixed, the integral in the last line of (5.1) is continuous on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) \times \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. As a supremum of continuous functions \mathcal{L} is lower semi-continuous. \square

Whenever μ in absolutely continuous with respect to π , the following result shows that we can restrict our study to $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ that are absolutely continuous with respect to $\pi \otimes m$. The Lemma below is an adaptation to our setting of [Erb14, Lemma 2.3]. Since our notation is quite different from this reference, we give a complete proof.

Lemma 5.3. Let $\mu = \rho \pi \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ and $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ such that $\mathcal{L}(\mu, \nu) < \infty$. Then, ν is absolutely continuous with respect to $\pi \otimes m$.

Proof. Take $A \in \mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon)$ and $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ such that $\pi(A)m(B) = 0$, and $\sigma \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ non-negative and such that $\pi \otimes m \ll \sigma$ and $\nu \ll \sigma$. The homogeneity of θ yields:

$$0 = \int_{A \times B} \theta(\rho(\eta), \rho(\eta + \delta_x)) \pi(\mathrm{d}\eta) m(\mathrm{d}x) = \int_{A \times B} \theta\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}(\mu \otimes m)}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}, \frac{\mathrm{d}C_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}\right) \mathrm{d}\sigma.$$

By positivity of θ and σ , the integrand vanishes σ -almost everywhere on $A \times B$. By definition of \mathcal{L} :

$$\mathcal{L}(\mu,\nu) = \int \frac{\left|\frac{\mathrm{d}\nu}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}\right|^2}{\theta\left(\frac{\mathrm{d}(\mu\otimes m)}{\mathrm{d}\sigma},\frac{\mathrm{d}C_{\mu}}{\mathrm{d}\sigma}\right)} \mathrm{d}\sigma.$$

The above quantity is finite by assumption. Since the denominator vanishes on $A \times B$ so does the numerator. Thus $\nu(A \times B) = 0$.

Lemma 5.4. Let $\mu = \rho \pi \in \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ and $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. Then,

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu,\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\nu) \leq \mathcal{L}(\mu,\nu), \qquad t > 0.$$

Proof. We can assume that $\mathcal{L}(\mu, \nu) < \infty$ otherwise there is nothing to prove. By Lemma 5.3, we have that $\nu = w(\pi \otimes m)$. By (2.2), we find that

$$\mathcal{L}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu,\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\nu) = \int \alpha(\mathsf{P}_t\rho(\eta),\mathsf{P}_t\rho(\eta+\delta_x),\mathsf{P}_tw(\eta,x))\mathrm{d}(\pi\otimes m).$$

We conclude by convexity of α , Jensen's inequality, and invariance of P with respect to π .

We finish with a useful bound.

Lemma 5.5. Let $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $\nu \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$. Then:

$$|\nu|(A\times B)\leq \left(\frac{1}{2}\big(m(B)+I_{\mu}(B)\big)\mathcal{L}(\mu,\nu)\right)^{1/2},\qquad A\in\mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon),\,B\in\mathfrak{B}_{0}(X).$$

Proof. Take $\sigma = (\mu \otimes m) + C_{\mu} + |\nu|$ so that we have, $\mu \otimes m = \rho^{1}\sigma$, $C_{\mu} = \rho^{2}\sigma$, and $\nu = w\sigma$. We assume that $\mathcal{L}(\mu, \nu) < \infty$, otherwise there is nothing to prove. We have that

$$\begin{split} |\nu|(A\times B) &= \int_{A\times B} |w| \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &= \int_{A\times B} \sqrt{\theta(\rho^1,\rho^2)} \sqrt{\alpha(w,\rho^1,\rho^2)} \mathrm{d}\sigma \\ &\leq \left(\int_{A\times B} \theta(\rho^1,\rho^2) \mathrm{d}\sigma\right)^{1/2} \left(\int_{A\times B} \alpha(\rho^1,\rho^2,w) \mathrm{d}\sigma\right)^{1/2} \\ &= \left(\int_{A\times B} \theta(\rho^1,\rho^2) \mathrm{d}\sigma\right)^{1/2} \sqrt{\mathcal{L}(\mu,\nu)}. \end{split}$$

Bounding from above the logarithmic mean with the arithmetic mean, we have

$$\int_{A\times B} 2\theta(\rho^1,\rho^2) d\sigma \le \int_{\Upsilon\times B} (\rho^1+\rho^2) d\sigma = (\mu\otimes m)(\Upsilon\times B) + C_{\mu}(\Upsilon\times B) = m(B) + I_{\mu}(B) < \infty,$$

which completes the proof.

5.1.2 The action functional

We now define the *action* associated with a curve $\bar{\mu} \in \mathcal{F}([0,1], \mathcal{P}(\Upsilon))$. We set

$$\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) := \inf \int_0^1 \mathcal{L}(\mu_t, \nu_t) \mathrm{d}t,$$

where the infimum runs over all $\bar{\nu}$ such that $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ is a solution to the continuity equation on [0, 1]. Whenever there is no such $\bar{\nu}$, we set $\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) = \infty$.

As a direct application of Proposition 4.3 and Lemma 5.4, we obtain the following contraction property for the action.

Proposition 5.6. For all $\varepsilon > 0$,

$$\mathcal{A}(\mathsf{P}_{\varepsilon}^{\star}\bar{\mu}) \leq \mathsf{e}^{-2\varepsilon}\,\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}).$$

We now establish that A is a good functional for minimization problems.

Lemma 5.7. *The functional* A *is convex.*

Proof. Let $\bar{\mu}$ and $\bar{\mu}'$ with finite action. Thus, there exists $\bar{\nu}$ and $\bar{\nu}'$ such that $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ and $(\bar{\mu}', \bar{\nu}')$ solve (\mathbf{CE}_T) . Let $\tau \in [0,1]$. Then, with $\bar{\nu}_{\tau} = (1-\tau)\bar{\nu} + \tau\bar{\nu}'$ and $\bar{\mu}_{\tau} = (1-\tau)\bar{\mu} + \tau\bar{\mu}$, we have that $(\bar{\mu}_{\tau}, \bar{\nu}_{\tau}) \sim (\mathbf{CE}_T)$. Since \mathcal{L} is convex by Lemma 5.1, we get:

$$\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}_{\tau}) \leq \int_{0}^{1} \mathcal{L}((1-\tau)\mu_{t} + \tau \mu'_{t}, (1-\tau)\nu_{t} + \tau \nu_{t}) dt \leq (1-\tau)\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) + \tau \mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}').$$

Fix $\xi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. We write

$$\mathcal{C}_{\xi}\big([0,1],\mathcal{P}_{1}(Y)\big)\coloneqq\big\{\bar{\mu}\in\mathcal{C}([0,1],\mathcal{P}_{1}(Y))\,:\,\mu_{0}=\xi\big\}.$$

As a consequence of Theorem 2.11, the space $\mathscr{C}_{\xi}([0,1],\mathscr{P}_1(\varUpsilon))$ is Polish when endowed with the topology of uniform $\mathscr{P}_1(\varUpsilon)$ -convergence.

Lemma 5.8. The functional $\mathcal{A}: \mathscr{C}_{\xi}([0,1],\mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon)) \to [0,\infty]$ is lower semi-continuous.

Lemma 5.9. The action \mathcal{A} has compact sub-level sets in $\mathscr{C}_{\xi}([0,1],\mathscr{P}_1(\Upsilon))$.

Proof of Lemmas 5.8 and 5.9. Let $r \in (0, \infty)$ and set $\Delta = \{\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) \leq r\} \cap \{\mu_0 = \xi\}$. Take $(\bar{\mu}_n) \subset \Delta$. Since $\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}_n) \leq r$, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists $\bar{\nu}_n \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times \bar{X})$ with $(\bar{\mu}_n, \bar{\nu}_n)$ solving the continuity equation on [0,1] and

$$\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}_n) \le \int_0^1 \mathcal{L}(\mu_{n,t}, \nu_{n,t}) \mathrm{d}t \le r + 1.$$

Let $A \in \mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon)$, $B \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$, and $I \in \mathfrak{B}([0,1])$. In view of Lemma 5.5, Theorem 4.10, and Cauchy–Schwarz inequality for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$|\bar{\nu}_{n}|(A \times B \times I) \leq \int_{I} \sqrt{m(B) + I_{\mu_{0}}(B) + |\bar{\nu}_{n}|(A \times B \times [0, t])} \mathcal{L}(\mu_{n, t}, \nu_{n, t})^{1/2} dt$$

$$\leq \sqrt{m(B) + I_{\mu_{0}}(B) + |\bar{\nu}_{n}|(A \times B \times [0, 1])} |I|(r + 1).$$

Setting I := [0, 1] in (5.2) yields

$$|\bar{\nu}_n|(A\times B\times [0,1])\leq \sqrt{|\bar{\nu}_n|(A\times B\times [0,1])+m(B)+I_{\mu_0}(B)}\,(r+1).$$

Solving explicitly this equation yields

(5.3)
$$|\bar{\nu}_n|(A \times B \times [0,1]) \le a_r + b_r \sqrt{m(B) + I_{\mu_0}(B)},$$

with a_r and $b_r > 0$ depending only on r. This shows that (2.1a) in Theorem 2.2 is satisfied. Let us now show that (2.1b) is satisfied. Let $\varepsilon > 0$. By Theorem 2.2, we can find $\Gamma \in \Re(\Upsilon)$, $K \in \Re(X)$, and $J \in \Re([0,1])$ such that

$$|[0,1] \setminus J| + m(B \setminus K) + I_{\mu_0}(B \setminus K) \le \varepsilon.$$

Now let $\Delta := \Gamma \times K \times J \in \Re(\Upsilon \times X \times [0,1])$. Then by (5.2) and (5.3), we get that

$$\begin{split} |\bar{\nu}_n| \Big((\varUpsilon \times B \times [0,1]) \setminus \Delta \Big) &\leq |\bar{\nu}_n| \Big(\Big(\varUpsilon \setminus \Gamma \Big) \times (B \setminus K) \times ([0,1] \setminus J) \Big) \\ &\leq \varepsilon (r+1) \sqrt{\varepsilon + a_r + b_r \sqrt{\varepsilon}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, Theorem 2.2 (ii) applies, and, up to passing to a subsequence, we can find $\bar{\nu} \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times \bar{X})$ such that $\bar{\nu}_n \to \bar{\nu}$, as $n \to \infty$.

Recall that $\mathfrak{A}(\Upsilon)$ is the algebra defined in Section 4.2.1. Define,

$$\mu_t(A) := \mu_0(A) + \int_0^t \nu_r(\mathsf{D}1_A) \mathrm{d}r, \qquad A \in \mathfrak{A}(\varUpsilon).$$

By Corollary 4.12, we find that for all $F \in \mathcal{H}$, $\mu_t(F)$ is the limit of $\mu_t^n(F)$. Thus μ_t is a non-negative set function on the algebra $\mathfrak{A}(\Upsilon)$ with total mass 1. By Hahn's extension theorem [DS88, Thm. III.5.8, p. 136], it can be uniquely be extended to a probability measure μ_t on $\sigma(\mathfrak{A}(\Upsilon)) = \mathfrak{B}(\Upsilon)$. Moreover, since $\mathcal{G} \subset \mathcal{H}$, we find that $\mu_t^n \to \mu_t$ in $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$. A similar argument at the level of intensity measures shows that actually $\mu_t^n \to \mu_t$ in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. By Lemma 4.2, the find that $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ is a solution to the continuity equation. Thus, by lower semi-continuity of \mathcal{L} (Lemma 5.2), we find that $\bar{\mu} \in \Delta$. This shows that Δ is compact and this establishes the two lemmas.

As a consequence of the properties of A established above, we obtain the following result.

Theorem 5.10. Let $\bar{\mu} \in \mathcal{C}([0,1], \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon))$ such that $\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) < \infty$, then there exists $\bar{\nu} \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times \bar{X})$ such that $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ solves the continuity equation on [0,1] and

$$\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) = \int_0^1 \mathcal{L}(\mu_t, \nu_t) \mathrm{d}t.$$

5.1.3 The variational distance end the entropic costs

We now define our distance W. Actually, we derive our entropic curvature for W through properties of a regularized version of it.

Definition 5.11. For $\varepsilon \geq 0$, we define the *entropic cost* by

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_0, \xi_1) \coloneqq \inf \left\{ \mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) + \varepsilon \int_0^1 \mathcal{I}(\mu_t \mid \pi) \mathrm{d}t \ : \ \mu_0 = \xi_0, \ \mu_1 = \xi_1 \right\}.$$

We also set $\mathcal{W} := \mathcal{J}_0^{1/2}$.

We call the quantity $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$ the entropic cost in analogy with the continuous setting (see [GT21] and the references therein). It can be thought of as an entropic regularization of \mathcal{W} . Properties specific to \mathcal{W} are studied below.

Theorem 5.12. Let $\varepsilon \geq 0$ and ξ_0 and ξ_1 such that $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_0, \xi_1) < \infty$. Then, there exists $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$ solving the continuity equation such that

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_0, \xi_1) = \int_0^1 \mathcal{L}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon}, \nu_t^{\varepsilon}) dt + \varepsilon \int_0^1 \mathcal{I}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon} \mid \pi) dt.$$

Proof. Since ε is fixed, in this proof we drop the dependence on ε whenever no confusion may arise. The relative Fisher information is lower semi-continuous, by Theorem 3.2, and convex, by Jensen's inequality. Thus in view of Lemmas 5.7 and 5.8, we get the lower semi-continuity and convexity of

(5.4)
$$\mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\mu}) \coloneqq \mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) + \varepsilon \int_{0}^{1} \mathcal{I}(\mu_{t} \mid \pi) dt.$$

Thus the set $A_{\varepsilon} := \{ \mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon} \leq r \}$ is closed for all $r \in (0, \infty)$. Clearly, we have that $A_{\varepsilon} \subset \{ \mathcal{A} \leq r \}$. Thus, A_{ε} is relatively compact by Lemma 5.9. The result follows from standard optimization arguments. \square

Theorem 5.13. Let ξ_0 and ξ_1 such that $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon_o}(\xi_0, \xi_1) < \infty$ for some $\varepsilon_o > 0$. For $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_o)$, write $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$ for a minimizer of $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_0, \xi_1)$. Then, we have that

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_0, \xi_1) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0^+]{} \mathcal{W}^2(\xi_0, \xi_1).$$

Moreover, up to passing to a subsequence

$$(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon}) \xrightarrow[\varepsilon \to 0^+]{} (\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu}),$$

for a minimizer $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ for $W(\xi_0, \xi_1)$.

Proof. Let us write $r := \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon_0}(\xi_0, \xi_1) + 1 < \infty$, and $A := \{\mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon_0} \le r\}$. Since the family $(\mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon})$ is decreasing in ε when regarded as functionals on A, we have

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_0, \xi_1) = \inf \{ \mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon}(\bar{\mu}) : \mu_0 = \xi_0, \, \mu_1 = \xi_1, \, \bar{\mu} \in A \}.$$

On A, we have that $\mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon} \setminus \mathcal{A}$ pointwise, and that \mathcal{A} is lower semi-continuous. Thus, by [Dal93, Prop. 5.7], $\mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon}$ Γ -converges to \mathcal{A} on A. Now, since $\mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon} \geq \mathcal{A}$ and since \mathcal{A} has compact-sublevel sets, the first part of the claim follows from [Dal93, Prop. 7.7 & Thm. 7.8]. The second part of the claim follows from [Dal93, Cor. 7.20] provided we can show that $\{(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon}) : \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_o)\}$ is compact. We argue as in Lemma 5.9. Indeed, by construction $\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon} \in \{\mathcal{A}^{\varepsilon} \leq r\} \subset \{\mathcal{A} \leq r\}$. Thus, (5.2) holds with ε in place of of n and the rest of the argument is the same.

We now study the properties of W. We start with a classical argument.

Lemma 5.14. For all T > 0, and ξ_0 and $\xi_1 \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$:

$$\mathcal{W}(\xi_0, \xi_1) = \inf \left\{ \int_0^T \mathcal{L}^{\frac{1}{2}}(\mu_t, \nu_t) dt : (\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu}) \sim (\mathbf{CE}_T), \, \mu_0 = \xi_0, \, \mu_T = \xi_1 \right\}.$$

Proof. Follows from a standard reparametrization argument, for instance [DNS09, Thm. 5.4] with Lemma 4.5.

We now summarize the main property of W.

Theorem 5.15. (i) The map W defines an extended distance on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

- (ii) The topology induced by W on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ is stronger than that of $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.
- (iii) The map W is lower semi-continuous on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) \times \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.
- (iv) Bounded sets with respect to W are $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ -relatively compact.
- (v) For every $\eta \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ the accessible component $\{W(\eta, \cdot) < \infty\}$ is a complete geodesic space when equipped with W.

Proof. (*i*) The symmetry is immediate. We obtain the triangle inequality by concatenation and using Lemma 5.14. Now take ξ_0 and $\xi_1 \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ with $\mathcal{W}(\xi_0, \xi_1) = 0$. By Theorem 5.12, take $\bar{\mu}$ realizing $\mathcal{W}(\xi_0, \xi_1)$. Then $\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) = 0$, thus $\bar{\nu} = 0$ and $\xi_0 = \xi_1$. This shows that \mathcal{W} is an extended distance. (*ii*) Let $(\xi_n) \subset \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $\xi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ be such that $\mathcal{W}(\xi_n, \xi) \to 0$. For all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, take $(\bar{\mu}_n, \bar{\nu}_n)$ realizing the infimum in $\mathcal{W}(\xi_n, \xi)$. Let $(h_k) \subset \mathcal{C}_0(X)$ be as in Lemma 2.5. For all $k \in \mathbb{N}$, set $G_k := \mathrm{e}^{-\iota_{h_k}}$, $B_k \in \mathfrak{B}_0(X)$ such that $\mathrm{D}G_k = 0$ outside of B_k . Arguing as in the proof of Theorem 4.11, and then using Lemma 5.5, we find that

$$\left| \int G_k d(\xi_n - \xi) \right| \leq |\bar{\nu}_n| (\Upsilon \times B_k \times [0, 1])$$

$$\leq \int_0^1 \left(m(B_k) + I_{\mu_{n,t}}(B_k) \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{L}(\mu_{n,t}, \nu_{n,t})^{\frac{1}{2}} dt$$

$$\leq C_k \mathcal{W}(\xi_n, \xi).$$

Thus, by Lemma 2.5, we find that $\xi_n \to \xi$ with respect to the $\mathcal{P}(\Upsilon)$ -topology. Take $h \in \mathcal{C}_0(X)$. By Theorem 4.10 and Lemma 5.5, we find that

$$\begin{split} \left|I_{\xi_n}(h) - I_{\xi}(h)\right| &\leq |\bar{\nu}_n|(1 \otimes h \otimes 1_{[0,1]}) \\ &\leq \int_0^1 \left(m(h) + I_{\mu_{n,t}}(h)\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathcal{L}(\mu_{n,t}, \nu_{n,t})^{\frac{1}{2}} \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq C \mathcal{W}(\xi_n, \xi) \end{split}$$

for some constant C > 0 depending on h. This shows that $I_{\xi_n} \to I_{\xi}$ in $\mathcal{M}_0(X)$. By Proposition 2.12, we find that $\xi_n \to \xi$ in $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

(iii) Fix $r \ge 0$, we want to show closedness of the set

$$A := \{ (\xi, \chi) \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) \times \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon) : \mathcal{W}(\xi, \chi) \le r \}.$$

Let (ξ_n) and $(\chi_n) \subset A$ converging respectively to ξ and $\chi \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. By Theorem 5.12, for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$, there exists a solution to the continuity equation $(\bar{\mu}_n, \bar{\nu}_n)$ realizing $\mathcal{W}(\xi_n, \chi_n)$. Since $\xi_n \to \xi$ and

 $\chi_n \to \chi$ arguing as in the proof of Lemma 5.9, we can find $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ solving the continuity equation and joining ξ to χ . Thus, by Lemma 5.8, we find that

$$\mathcal{W}(\chi,\xi) \leq \mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}) \leq \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}_n) = \liminf_{n \to \infty} \mathcal{W}(\chi_n,\xi_n).$$

- (iv) Follows from Lemma 5.9.
- (v) The geodesic property follows from Theorem 5.12, the geodesic being given by the minimizing curve $\bar{\mu}$. The completeness follows from (iii) and (iv).

The quantity $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}^{\frac{1}{2}}$ is not a distance for $\varepsilon > 0$ (the reparametrization argument given in Lemma 5.14 does not work here). However, we have the following quasi-triangle inequality.

Proposition 5.16. Let $\xi_0, \xi_1, \xi_2 \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ and $\varepsilon > 0$. Then,

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_0, \xi_2) \le 2\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_0, \xi_1) + 2\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\xi_1, \xi_2).$$

Proof. We assume that the right hand side is finite. Let $(\bar{\mu}^1, \bar{\nu}^1)$ and $(\bar{\mu}^2, \bar{\nu}^2)$ realizing the two infima. By concatenation, using Lemma 4.5 and that the Lagrangian is quadratic in ν , we find that

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon} \leq 4 \int_{0}^{1/2} \mathcal{L}(\mu_{2t}^{1}, \nu_{2t}^{1}) dt + \varepsilon \int_{0}^{1/2} \mathcal{I}(\mu_{2t} \mid \pi) dt + 4 \int_{1/2}^{1} \mathcal{L}(\mu_{2t-1}^{2}, \nu_{2t-1}^{2}) dt + \varepsilon \int_{1/2}^{1} \mathcal{I}(\mu_{2t-1}^{2} \mid \pi) dt.$$

This gives the claim by an immediate change of variable and since $\varepsilon/4 \le \varepsilon$.

5.2 The geometry of $(\mathfrak{D}$ om $\mathcal{H}, \mathcal{W})$

5.2.1 The metric space (\mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} , \mathcal{W})

We first show that Theorem 5.15 is non-trivial by showing that \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} yields an example of an accessible component for \mathcal{W} . The central tool is the following *Talagrand inequality*.

Theorem 5.17. For all $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$,

(5.5)
$$\mathcal{W}^2(\mu, \pi) \le \mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi).$$

Moreover, for all $\mu \in \mathfrak{D}$ om \mathcal{H} *and all* $\varepsilon \geq 0$,

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mu,\pi) < \infty$$
.

Remark 5.18. Classically, the Talagrand inequality is a consequence of the convexity of the entropy (Theorem 5.28). Since W can be infinite, we derive the Talagrand inequality *a priori* by other means.

Proof. We show (5.5) first. We can assume that $\mu \in \mathcal{D}$ om \mathcal{H} otherwise the claim is empty. Let T > 0. By Proposition 4.3 and (3.7) and (3.10), we find that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{W}(\mu, \mathsf{P}_T^{\star} \mu) &\leq \int_0^T \mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu \mid \pi)^{1/2} \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \int_0^T \frac{\mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu \mid \pi)}{\mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu \mid \pi)^{1/2}} \mathrm{d}t \\ &= -\int_0^T \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \, \mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu \mid \pi)^{1/2} \mathrm{d}t \\ &= \mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi)^{1/2} - \mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_T^{\star} \mu \mid \pi)^{1/2}. \end{split}$$

We conclude by letting $T \to \infty$, and by lower semi-continuity of \mathcal{W} (Theorem 5.15 (iii)). Now let us prove the second part of the claim. On the one hand, since $\mu \in \mathfrak{D}$ om \mathcal{H} , by (3.9) and Proposition 4.3, we see that $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mu, \mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\mu) < \infty$ for all $\delta > 0$. In view of Proposition 5.16, it thus sufficient to show that $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star},\pi) < \infty$. Since $\mathcal{W}(\mu,\pi) < \infty$ by the first part, we can consider a solution $(\bar{\mu},\bar{\nu})$ to the continuity equation minimal for $\mathcal{W}(\mu,\pi)$. Applying Proposition 4.4 to this solution, and using that $\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\pi = \pi$ yields that $(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\bar{\mu},\mathsf{e}^{-\delta}\,\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\bar{\nu})$ is an admissible candidate for the minimization problem of $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\mu,\pi)$. Furthermore, by (3.9), we find that it has finite ε -energy. The proof is complete.

The following definition is thus very natural.

Definition 5.19. We write $\mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon)$ for the \mathcal{W} -closure of \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} .

The following is a consequence of Theorems 5.15 and 5.17.

Corollary 5.20. The space $(\mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon), \mathcal{W})$ is a complete geodesic space.

Remark 5.21. We have

$$\mathfrak{D}om\,\mathcal{H}\subset \mathcal{P}_1^*(\varUpsilon)\subset \mathcal{P}_1(\varUpsilon).$$

A priori each inclusion could be strict.

Proposition 5.22. Fix μ and $\xi \in \mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon)$ then

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^+}{\mathrm{d}t} \mathcal{W}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu, \xi) \leq \sqrt{\mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu \mid \pi)}, \qquad t > 0.$$

Proof. Assume that $\mu = \rho \pi \in \mathfrak{D}$ om \mathfrak{I} , otherwise there is nothing to prove. Write, for t > 0, $\mu_t := \mathsf{P}_t^{\star} \mu$ and $\nu_t := \mathsf{D}\rho \mathsf{d}(\pi \otimes m)$. By Proposition 4.3, $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ is a solution to the continuity equation, and

$$\mathcal{L}(\mu_t, \nu_t) = \mathcal{I}(\mu_t \mid \pi).$$

Thus by Proposition 5.23, we get:

$$\mathcal{W}(\mu_{t+s}, \xi) - \mathcal{W}(\mu_t, \xi) \leq \mathcal{W}(\mu_{t+s}, \mu_t) \leq \int_t^{t+s} |\dot{\mu}_u| du \leq \int_t^{t+s} \sqrt{\mathcal{I}(\mu_u \mid \pi)} du.$$

The claim immediately follows.

Recall that a curve $\bar{\mu} \in \mathcal{F}([0,T],\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon))$ is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathcal{W} provided there exists $g \in L^1(0,T)$ such that:

$$W(\mu_s, \mu_t) \le \int_s^t g(r) dr, \qquad 0 \le s \le t \le T.$$

By definition the *metric derivative* of $\bar{\mu}$ is the minimal g in the above inequality denoted by $t \mapsto |\dot{\mu}_t|$. Recall from [AGS08, Thm. 1.1.2], that, for almost every $t \in (0, T)$,

$$|\dot{\mu}_t| = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{W}(\mu_{t+\varepsilon}, \mu_t)}{\varepsilon}.$$

Proposition 5.23. The curve $\bar{\mu} \in \mathcal{C}([0,T], \mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon))$ is absolutely continuous with respect to W if and only if there exists $\bar{\nu} \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times \bar{X})$ such that $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu}) \sim (\mathbf{CE}_T)$ and

$$\int_0^T \sqrt{\mathcal{L}(\mu_t, \nu_t)} \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

In this case, $|\dot{\mu}_t|^2 \leq \mathcal{L}(\mu_t, \nu_t)$ for almost every $t \in [0, T]$. Moreover, there exists a unique $\bar{\nu}' \in \mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times \bar{X})$ such that $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu}') \sim (\mathbf{CE}_T)$ and

(5.6)
$$|\dot{\mu}_t|^2 = \mathcal{L}(\mu_t, \nu_t'), \quad \text{for a.e. } t \in [0, T].$$

Proof. See [DNS09, Thm. 5.17]: the precompactness result in [DNS09, Cor. 4.10] corresponds to Lemmas 5.8 and 5.9.

In the previous section, we have informally chosen $\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\Upsilon \times X)$ to be the tangent space of $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$. However, it would be natural to consider only vector fields that have minimal Lagrangian. In order to do so, observe that if $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ and $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu}')$ solve the continuity equation, then for all $t \in [0,1]$, $\nu_t - \nu_t'$ is *divergence-free*, in the sense that

$$(\nu_t - \nu_t')(\mathsf{D}F) = 0, \qquad F \in \mathcal{H}.$$

This leads to the following definition of the tangent space, for $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon)$,

$$T_{\mu}\mathcal{P}_{1}^{*}(\varUpsilon)\coloneqq\big\{\nu\in\mathcal{M}_{b,0}(\varUpsilon\times X)\,:\,\mathcal{L}(\mu,\nu)\leq\mathcal{L}(\mu,\nu+\nu')<\infty,\quad\nu'\text{ divergence-free}\big\}.$$

From Proposition 5.23 and this definition, we get the following result.

Corollary 5.24. Take $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ a solution to the continuity equation such that $\bar{\mu}$ is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathcal{W} , and $\mu_t \in \mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon)$, for all $t \in [0, 1]$. Then, $\bar{\nu}$ is the unique solution to (5.6) if and only if $\nu_t \in T_{\mu_t} \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$.

As in the Euclidean case [AGS08, Section 8.1], we obtain an explicit representation of the tangent as a closure of gradient fields.

Proposition 5.25. Assume that $\mu = \rho \pi \in \mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon)$. Then, $T_{\mu} \mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon)$ is the set of measures $\nu = w(\pi \otimes m)$ such that w is in the $L^2(\pi \otimes m)$ -closure of $\{DF : F \in \mathcal{H}\}$.

Proof. In view of Lemma 5.3, the claim follows by observing that $\nu' = w'(\pi \otimes m)$ is divergence-free if and only if $\int DFw'd\pi dm = 0$ for all $F \in \mathcal{H}$ and that the space of such densities is the orthogonal space to the space of gradient fields.

5.2.2 Evolution variation inequality and entropic curvature bounds

We now establish the main results of the paper, namely we show that of the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group is the gradient flow of $\mathcal{H}(\cdot \mid \pi)$ on $(\mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon), \mathcal{W})$. Despite \mathcal{W} being an extended distance on $\mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, the space $(\mathcal{P}_1^*(\Upsilon), \mathcal{W})$ is a metric space in the usual sense (that is, not extended). Following Proposition 5.6 and Theorem 5.17, the following contraction estimates hold.

Theorem 5.26. For μ_0 and $\mu_1 \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$, and $t \geq 0$:

(5.7)
$$\mathcal{W}(\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu_0,\mathsf{P}_t^{\star}\mu_1) \leq \mathsf{e}^{-t} \,\mathcal{W}(\mu_0,\mu_1);$$

(5.8)
$$\mathcal{W}(\mathsf{P}_{t}^{\star}\mu_{0},\pi) \leq \mathsf{e}^{-t}\,\mathcal{H}(\mu_{0}\mid\pi).$$

We now establish a much stronger relationship between \mathcal{W} and \mathcal{H} by showing that P^* is the gradient flow of the entropy with respect to \mathcal{W} .

Theorem 5.27. The space \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} is geodesically convex with respect to \mathcal{W} . Furthermore, the following Evolution Variation Inequality holds: for all μ and $\xi \in \mathfrak{D}$ om \mathcal{H} ,

$$(\text{EVI}) \qquad \mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\,\mu\mid\pi) + \frac{1}{2}\frac{\mathsf{d}}{\mathsf{d}s}\,\mathcal{W}^2(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\,\mu,\xi) + \frac{1}{2}\,\mathcal{W}^2(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\,\mu,\xi) \leq \mathcal{H}(\xi\mid\pi), \qquad s\geq 0.$$

Proof. By the semigroup property of P* it suffices to show the claim at s=0. Our strategy consists in starting from a minimizing curve $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ for $\mathcal{W}(\mu, \xi)$ and $\delta > 0$ construct a deformation $(\bar{\mu}^{\delta}, \bar{\nu}^{\delta})$ that is admissible for $\mathcal{W}(\mathsf{P}^{\star}_{\delta}\mu, \xi)$ and then use estimates from the previous section in order to control $\mathcal{W}(\mathsf{P}^{\star}_{\delta}\mu, \xi) - \mathcal{W}(\mu, \xi)$. However, since the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group is only regularizing from \mathfrak{D} om \mathfrak{F} to \mathfrak{D} om \mathfrak{I} , and that we have a priori no information on the regularity of geodesics,

we implement this strategy in two steps. First, we use the entropic cost $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$ for which we know that minimizing curves are in the domain of the Fisher information, in order to derive a weaker version of (EVI) for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$, and for \mathcal{W} passing to the limit. Second, we can use this weak (EVI) in order to deduce that \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} is geodesically convex, thus gaining some regularity of geodesics. This regularity is sufficient in order to reimplement the above strategy but directly at the level of \mathcal{W} rather than $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$. Since \mathcal{W} has more structure than $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}$ we can deduce (EVI).

Approximation of minimizers via the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group Let $\varepsilon > 0$. By Theorem 5.17, we get that $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mu,\xi) < \infty$. By Theorem 5.12, we can consider $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon},\bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$ solving the continuity equation and realizing $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mu,\xi)$. By the finiteness of $\mathcal{I}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon}\mid\pi)$ for almost every $t\in[0,1]$ and Theorem 4.11, we can write, for all $t\in[0,1]$, $\mu_t^{\varepsilon}=\rho_t^{\varepsilon}\pi$ for some probability density. By Lemma 5.3, we can take $\nu_t^{\varepsilon}=w_t^{\varepsilon}(\pi\otimes m)$. Recall that by Proposition 4.3, we can use the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck to construct solutions to the continuity equation from a fixed initial measure. Here we use a similar strategy with an additional correction taking into account that $\bar{\mu}$ also depends on t. Namely, for all $\delta > 0$, we define

$$\begin{split} & \mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} = \mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star} \mu_t^{\varepsilon} = \rho_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mu, \\ & \nu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} = \mathsf{e}^{-t\delta} \, \mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star} \nu_t^{\varepsilon} - \delta \mathsf{D} \mathsf{P}_{t\delta} \rho_t^{\varepsilon} (\pi \otimes m) = w_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} (\pi \otimes m). \end{split}$$

By construction, we have $\mu_0^{\varepsilon,\delta} = \mu_0^{\varepsilon} = \xi$ and $\mu_1^{\varepsilon,\delta} = \mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\mu$. Let us show that $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon,\delta}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon,\delta})$ solves the continuity equation. Indeed, let $F \in \mathscr{C}^1_c([0,1],\mathcal{S})$. By definition of L, we have

(5.9)
$$\partial_t \mathsf{P}_{t\delta} F_t = \delta \mathsf{L} \mathsf{P}_{t\delta} F_t + \mathsf{P}_{t\delta} \partial_t F_t.$$

By definition of P^* and (5.9),

(5.10)
$$\int_0^1 \int \partial_t F_t d\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star} \mu_t^{\varepsilon} dt = \int_0^1 \int \mathsf{P}_{\delta t} \partial_t F_t d\mu_t^{\varepsilon} dt$$

$$= \int_0^1 \int (\partial_t \mathsf{P}_{t\delta} F_t - \delta \mathsf{LP}_{t\delta} F_t) d\mu_t^{\varepsilon} dt.$$

On the one hand, since, by definition, $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$ solves the continuity equation, and since $\mathsf{DP}_{t\delta} = \mathsf{e}^{-t\delta} \, \mathsf{P}_{t\delta} \mathsf{D}$, we have that:

(5.11)
$$\int_0^1 \int \partial_t \mathsf{P}_{t\delta} F_t \mathrm{d}\mu_t^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}t = -\int_0^1 \int \mathsf{D}\mathsf{P}_{t\delta} F_t \mathrm{d}\nu_t^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}t = -\int_0^1 \int \mathrm{e}^{-t\delta} F_t \mathrm{d}\nu_t^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}t.$$

On the other hand, since L and P commute, and by integration by part between L and D provided by the Mecke formula

$$(5.12) -\delta \int_0^1 \int \mathsf{LP}_{t\delta} F_t \mathrm{d}\mu_t^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}t = \delta \int_0^1 \int \mathsf{D} F_t \mathsf{DP}_{t\delta} \rho_t^{\varepsilon} \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m) \mathrm{d}t.$$

combining (5.10), (5.11) and (5.12), we find that

$$\int_0^1 \int \partial_t F_t \mathrm{d}\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mathrm{d}t = -\int_0^1 \int \mathsf{D}F_t \mathrm{d}\nu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mathrm{d}t.$$

That is to say that $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon,\delta}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon,\delta})$ solves the continuity equation.

Expansion of the Lagrangian along the approximation By the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality,

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{1} \int |\mathsf{D}\log \rho_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta} w_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}| \, \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m) \mathrm{d}t &= \int_{0}^{1} \int \left|\mathsf{D}\log \rho_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mathsf{D}\rho_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}\right|^{1/2} \left|\frac{\mathsf{D}\log \rho_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}}{\mathsf{D}\rho_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}} w_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}\right|^{1/2} \, \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m) \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq \left(\int_{0}^{1} \mathcal{I}(\mu_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mid \pi) \mathrm{d}t \int_{0}^{1} \mathcal{L}(\mu_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}, \nu_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}) \mathrm{d}t\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}. \end{split}$$

Using that $(a + b)^2 \le 2a^2 + 2b^2$, we get

$$\int_0^1 \mathcal{L}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta},\nu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}) \mathrm{d}t \leq \int_0^1 \mathrm{e}^{-2\delta t} \, \mathcal{L}(\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star}\mu_t^{\varepsilon},\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star}\nu_t^{\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}t + \delta^2 \int_0^1 \int \frac{|\mathsf{DP}_{t\delta}\rho_t^{\varepsilon}|^2}{\theta(\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}\rho_t^{\varepsilon} + \mathsf{DP}_{t\delta}\rho_t^{\varepsilon},\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}\rho_t^{\varepsilon})} \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m) \mathrm{d}t.$$

By Lemma 5.4, the first term is not larger than $\mathcal{A}(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon})$ which is finite by construction. The second term is, by definition, $\delta^2 \int_0^1 \mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star}\mu_t^{\varepsilon}\mid \pi)\mathrm{d}t$. By the contractivity of the Fisher information along the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group and the assumption on μ^{ε} , we have that

$$\int_0^1 \mathcal{I}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mid \pi) \mathrm{d}t \le \int_0^1 \mathcal{I}(\mu_t^\varepsilon \mid \pi) \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

Thus, we have established that

(5.13)
$$\int_0^1 \int |\mathsf{D}\log \rho_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} w_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}| \, \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m) \, \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

By definition, we have that

$$w_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} = \mathrm{e}^{-t\delta}\,\mathrm{P}_{t\delta}w_t^\varepsilon - \delta\mathrm{D}\rho_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}.$$

Using that $(a - b)^2 = a^2 - 2(a - b)b - b^2$, we find that

$$|w_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}|^2 = e^{-2t\delta} |P_{t\delta} w_t^{\varepsilon}|^2 - 2\delta w_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} D\rho_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} - \delta^2 |D\rho_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}|^2.$$

Thus, for $t \in [0,1]$, expanding the square in this way in the definition of \mathcal{L} , we get

$$(5.14) \qquad \mathcal{L}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta},\nu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}) = \mathrm{e}^{-2t\delta} \, \mathcal{L}(\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star}\mu_t^{\varepsilon},\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star}\nu_t^{\varepsilon}) - 2\delta \int w_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mathsf{D}\log\rho_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mathrm{d}(\pi\otimes m) - \delta^2 \, \mathcal{I}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}\mid\pi),$$

the first quantity is finite by Lemma 5.4, the second term is finite by (5.13), and the last term is finite by assumption. Using that $\mathcal{I} \geq 0$ and the contraction estimate Lemma 5.4 for the Lagrangian yields:

$$(5.15) \qquad \mathcal{L}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta},\nu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}) - \mathcal{L}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon},\nu_t^{\varepsilon}) \leq (\mathrm{e}^{-2t\delta} - 1)\mathcal{L}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon},\nu_t^{\varepsilon}) - 2\delta \int w_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mathrm{D}\log \rho_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m).$$

The Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group is an EVI(0)-gradient flow By Theorem 4.13, we find that

(5.16)
$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \,\mathcal{H}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mid \pi) = \int \mathsf{D} \log \rho_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} w_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mathrm{d}(\pi \otimes m).$$

Since $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon})$ is a minimizer for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mu, \xi)$, and since $(\bar{\mu}^{\varepsilon, \delta}, \bar{\nu}^{\varepsilon, \delta})$ is admissible for $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mathsf{P}^{\star}_{\delta}\mu, \xi)$

$$(5.17) \quad \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\mu,\xi) - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mu,\xi) \leq \int_{0}^{1} \Big(\mathcal{L}(\mu_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta},\nu_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}) - \mathcal{L}(\mu_{t}^{\varepsilon},\nu_{t}^{\varepsilon}) \Big) \mathrm{d}t + \varepsilon \int_{0}^{1} \Big(\mathcal{I}(\mu_{t}^{\varepsilon,\delta}\mid\pi) - \mathcal{I}(\mu_{t}^{\varepsilon}\mid\pi) \Big) \mathrm{d}t.$$

The second term in the right-hand side is non-positive by the contractivity of the Fisher information along the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group. Since $\mathcal{L} \geq 0$ we can discard the first term in the right-hand side of (5.15), and by Theorem 4.13, this gives

$$\mathcal{L}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}, \nu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta}) - \mathcal{L}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon}, \nu_t^{\varepsilon}) \le -2\delta \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \,\mathcal{H}(\mu_t^{\varepsilon,\delta} \mid \pi).$$

Reporting in (5.17) yields

(5.18)
$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\mu,\xi) - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\mu,\xi) \leq -2\delta \big(\mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\mu\mid\pi) - \mathcal{H}(\xi\mid\pi)\big).$$

In (5.18), we first let $\varepsilon \to 0$ and invoke Theorem 5.13, and then divide by 2δ and take $\limsup_{\delta \to 0^+} \delta$. This yields

$$\mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) + \frac{\mathsf{d}^+}{\mathsf{d}s} \upharpoonright_{s=0} \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{W}^2(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star} \mu, \xi) \leq \mathcal{H}(\xi \mid \pi).$$

Using the semi-group property of P^* this yields that P^* is an EVI(0)-gradient flow of \mathcal{H} . In particular, by [DS08, Thm. 2.1], we have that \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} is geodesically convex.

The Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group is an EVI(1)-gradient flow Now we repeat the argument above working directly with \mathcal{W}^2 . By Theorem 5.12, take $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ realizing $\mathcal{W}^2(\mu, \xi)$. By the geodesic convexity of \mathfrak{D} om \mathcal{H} , we find that, for all $t \in [0,1]$, $\mu_t = \rho_t \pi$, and thus $\nu_t = w_t \pi \otimes m$ by Lemma 5.3. Construct $(\bar{\mu}^{\delta}, \bar{\nu}^{\delta})$ as above. By Lemma 5.14 and the Cauchy–Schwarz inequality, we have that

$$\mathcal{W}(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\mu,\xi) \leq \sqrt{\int_{0}^{1} \mathsf{e}^{-2\delta t} \, \mathrm{d}t \int_{0}^{1} \mathsf{e}^{2\delta t} \, \mathcal{L}(\mu_{t}^{\delta},\nu_{t}^{\delta}) \mathrm{d}t}.$$

For all $t \in [0,1]$, $\mu_t \in \mathcal{D}$ om \mathcal{H} , thus $\mu_t^{\delta} \in \mathcal{D}$ om \mathcal{I} by (3.9). Actually, by (3.10), we find that (4.8) in Theorem 4.13 is satisfied. In particular, we obtain an expression similar to (5.14) for $(\bar{\mu}^{\delta}, \bar{\nu}^{\delta})$. Since $\mathcal{I} \geq 0$, and using Lemma 5.4, we get that

$$(5.19) \qquad \mathcal{W}^{2}(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star}\mu,\xi) \leq a(\delta) \Bigg[\int_{0}^{1} \mathcal{L}(\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star}\mu_{t},\mathsf{P}_{t\delta}^{\star}\nu_{t}) \mathrm{d}t - 2\delta \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{e}^{2t\delta} \, \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \, \mathcal{H}(\mu_{t}^{\delta} \mid \pi) \mathrm{d}t \Bigg] \\ \leq a(\delta) \Bigg[\int_{0}^{1} \mathcal{L}(\mu_{t},\nu_{t}) \mathrm{d}t - 2\delta \int_{0}^{1} \mathrm{e}^{2t\delta} \, \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \, \mathcal{H}(\mu_{t}^{\delta} \mid \pi) \mathrm{d}t \Bigg],$$

where

$$a(\delta) = \int_0^1 e^{-2t\delta} dt = \frac{1 - e^{-2\delta}}{2\delta}.$$

By integration by parts, we find that

(5.20)
$$\int_0^1 e^{2t\delta} \frac{d}{dt} \mathcal{H}(\mu_t^{\delta} \mid \pi) dt = e^{2\delta} \mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_{\delta}^{\star} \mu \mid \pi) - \mathcal{H}(\xi \mid \pi) - 2\delta \int_0^1 e^{2t\delta} \mathcal{H}(\mu_t^{\delta} \mid \pi) dt.$$

Substituting (5.20) in (5.19), and using that $(\bar{\mu}, \bar{\nu})$ is a minimizer for $\mathcal{W}^2(\mu, \xi)$, we get

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{W}^2(\mathsf{P}^{\star}_{\delta}\mu,\xi) &- \mathcal{W}^2(\mu,\xi) \leq (a(\delta)-1) \int_0^1 \mathcal{L}(\mu_t,\nu_t) \mathrm{d}t \\ &+ 2\delta a(\delta) \big[\mathcal{H}(\xi\mid\pi) - \mathrm{e}^{2\delta}\,\mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}^{\star}_{\delta}\mu\mid\pi) \big] \\ &+ 4a(\delta)\delta^2 \int_0^1 \mathrm{e}^{2t\delta}\,\mathcal{H}(\mu_t^\delta\mid\pi) \mathrm{d}t. \end{split}$$

Dividing by δ and taking $\limsup_{\delta \to 0^+}$, and using the lower semi-continuity of $\mathcal H$ and that $\mathcal H$ decreases along P yields

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}^+}{\mathrm{d}s} \upharpoonright_{s=0} \mathcal{W}^2(\mathsf{P}_s^{\star}\mu,\xi) \leq -\mathcal{W}^2(\mu,\xi) + 2(\mathcal{H}(\xi\mid\pi) - \mathcal{H}(\mu\mid\pi)),$$

which is exactly (EVI) for s = 0. This yields (EVI) for all s by the semi-group property of P^* . \square

We now draw two standard conclusions from the above Evolution Variation Inequality.

Theorem 5.28 ([DS08, Thm. 2.1]). The relative entropy is 1-geodesically convex. Namely, let μ_0 and $\mu_1 \in \mathcal{D}$ om \mathcal{H} . Take $\{\mu_t : t \in [0,1]\}$ a geodesic joining μ_0 to μ_1 . Then,

$$\mathcal{H}(\mu_t \mid \pi) \leq (1-t)\,\mathcal{H}(\mu_0 \mid \pi) + t\,\mathcal{H}(\pi_1 \mid \pi) - \frac{t(1-t)}{2}\,\mathcal{W}^2(\mu_0, \mu_1), \qquad t \in [0,1].$$

The *descending slope* of \mathcal{H} at $\mu \in \mathfrak{D}$ om \mathcal{H} plays the role of the length of the gradient in our non-smooth setting:

$$|D^{-}\mathcal{H}|(\mu) \coloneqq \limsup_{\xi \to \mu} \frac{(\mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) - \mathcal{H}(\xi \mid \pi))_{+}}{\mathcal{W}(\mu, \xi)}.$$

Theorem 5.29 ([AG13, Prop. 4.6]). *The Ornstein–Uhlenbeck semi-group is a gradient flow of the entropy in the following sense:*

$$|D^{-}\mathcal{H}|(\mathsf{P}_{t}^{\star}\mu) = -\frac{\mathsf{d}}{\mathsf{d}t}\,\mathcal{H}(\mathsf{P}_{t}^{\star}\mu\mid\pi) = \mathcal{I}(\mathsf{P}_{t}^{\star}\mu\mid\pi).$$

We also have the following Poisson equivalent of the celebrated HWI inequality.

Theorem 5.30. *Let* $\mu \in \mathcal{P}_1(\Upsilon)$ *. Then:*

$$\mathcal{H}(\mu \mid \pi) \leq \mathcal{W}(\mu, \pi) \sqrt{\mathcal{I}(\mu \mid \pi)} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{W}^{2}(\mu, \pi).$$

Proof. The proof is identical to [EM12, Thm. 7.3]. The equivalent of [EM12, Prop. 4.1] in our setting is Proposition 5.22. \Box

6 Appendix

Lemma 6.1. Let (E, \mathcal{F}, m) be a σ -finite measure space, and $\mathfrak{B} \subset \mathcal{F}$ be a family of measurable sets such that

(a) there exists an m-negligible set N and a countable nested exhaustion $(B_n)_{n\in\mathbb{N}}\subset\mathfrak{B}$ of $E\setminus N$ additionally such that for every $B\in\mathfrak{B}$ there exists $n\in\mathbb{N}$ so that $B\subset B_n$.

For $p \in [1, \infty)$ let

$$L^p_{\mathrm{loc}}(E) = \{ f \in L^0(E) : \| f 1_B \|_{L^p} < \infty, B \in \mathfrak{B} \}$$

be endowed with the topology induced by the family of semi-norms

$$||f||_{p,B} = ||f 1_B||_{L^p}$$

Then, $L^p_{loc}(E)$ is a Fréchet space. Further let q be the Hölder conjugate exponent to p. Then, $T \in L^p_{loc}(E)^*$ if and only if there exists $B \in \mathfrak{B}$ and $g_B \in L^q(E)$ with $g_B \equiv 0$ on $E \setminus B$ and such that

$$T(f) = \int_E g_B f dm, \qquad f \in L^p_{loc}(E).$$

Proof. It is clear that $L^p_{loc}(E) = L^p_{loc}(E \setminus N)$, thus we may and will assume with no loss of generality that $N = \emptyset$. By (a) and monotonicity of the semi-norms $B \mapsto \|\cdot\|_{p,B}$, the topology of $L^p_{loc}(E)$ is induced by the countable family of semi-norms $\|\cdot\|_{p,B_n}$ with $(B_n)_n$ as in (a); thus $L^p_{loc}(E)$ is a Fréchet space.

Now, let $T \in L^p_{loc}(E)^*$. By continuity of T there exist $k \in \mathbb{N}$, constants $a_1, \dots, a_k > 0$, and sets $B_1, \dots, B_k \in \mathfrak{B}$ so that $|T(f)| \leq \sum_{i=1}^k a_i ||f||_{p,B_i}$ for all $f \in L^p_{loc}(E)$. Setting $a = \max_{i \leq k} a_i$, again by (a) there exists $B \in \mathfrak{B}$ so that

$$|T(f)| \le ak||f||_{p,B}, \qquad f \in L^p_{loc}(E).$$

Consider the map $1_B: L^p_{loc}(E) \to L^p(B)$. By the above inequality, $\ker 1_B \subset \ker T$, hence $T = T_B \circ 1_B$ factors over some $T_B \in L^p(B)^*$. Since (B, m_B) is σ -finite, T_B is represented by some function $g \in L^q(B)$ in the standard way. Letting g_B denote the extension by 0 of $g \in L^q(B)$ to E, we have therefore that

$$T(f) = T_B(1_B f) = \int_B g 1_B f dm_B = \int_E g_B f dm, \qquad f \in L^p_{loc}(E).$$

The reverse implication is straightforward.

Remark 6.2. We note that the previous Lemma applies to every metric measure space (E, d, m) when $\mathfrak{B} = \mathfrak{B}_0(E)$ and m is finite on $\mathfrak{B}_0(E)$.

Bibliography

- [AG13] L. Ambrosio & N. Gigli. "A User's Guide to Optimal Transport". In: *Modelling and Optimisation of Flows on Networks*. Vol. 2062. Lecture Notes in Math. Springer, Berlin, 2013. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-32160-3_1.
- [AGS08] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli & G. Savaré. *Gradient flows in metric spaces and in the space of probability measures*. Second. Lectures in Mathematics ETH Zürich. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2008, pp. x+334.
- [AGS14a] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli & G. Savaré. "Calculus and heat flow in metric measure spaces and applications to spaces with Ricci bounds from below". In: *Invent. Math.* 195.2 (2014), pp. 289–391. DOI: 10.1007/s00222-013-0456-1.
- [AGS14b] L. Ambrosio, N. Gigli & G. Savaré. "Metric measure spaces with Riemannian Ricci curvature bounded from below". In: *Duke Math. J.* 163.7 (2014), pp. 1405–1490. DOI: 10.1215/00127094-2681605.
- [AKR98] S. Albeverio, Y. G. Kondratiev & M. Röckner. "Analysis and geometry on configuration spaces". In: *J. Funct. Anal.* 154.2 (1998), pp. 444–500. DOI: 10.1006/jfan.1997.3183.
- [BÉ85] D. Bakry & M. Émery. "Diffusions hypercontractives". In: *Séminaire de probabilités, XIX*, 1983/84. Vol. 1123. Lecture Notes in Math. Springer, Berlin, 1985, pp. 177–206. DOI: 10.1007/BFb0075847.
- [BGL14] D. Bakry, I. Gentil & M. Ledoux. *Analysis and geometry of Markov diffusion operators*. Vol. 348. Grundlehren der Mathematischen Wissenschaften. Springer, Cham, 2014, pp. xx+552. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-00227-9.
- [BH91] N. Bouleau & F. Hirsch. *Dirichlet forms and analysis on Wiener space*. Vol. 14. Berlin etc.: de Gruyter, 1991, pp. x + 325. DOI: 10.1515/9783110858389.
- [Bog07] V. I. Bogachev. *Measure theory. Vol. I, II.* Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2007, Vol. I: xviii+500 pp., Vol. II: xiv+575. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-34514-5.

- [Bou69] N. Bourbaki. Éléments de mathématique. Fasc. XXXV. Livre VI: Intégration. Chapitre IX: Intégration sur les espaces topologiques séparés. Actualités Scientifiques et Industrielles, No. 1343. Hermann, Paris, 1969, p. 133.
- [Bou71] N. Bourbaki. Éléments de mathématique. Topologie générale. Chapitres 1 à 4. Hermann, Paris, 1971, xv+357 pp. (not consecutively paged).
- [Bou74] N. Bourbaki. Éléments de mathématique. Topologie générale. Chap. 5 à 10. Nouvelle édition. Paris: Hermann, 1974, p. 336.
- [Bou81] N. Bourbaki. Éléments de mathématique. Espaces vectoriels topologiques. Chapitres 1 à 5. Masson, Paris, 1981, pp. vii + 368. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-34498-8.
- [Cha04] D. Chafaï. "Entropies, convexity, and functional inequalities: on Φ-entropies and Φ-Sobolev inequalities". In: *J. Math. Kyoto Univ.* 44.2 (2004), pp. 325–363. DOI: 10.1215/kjm/1250283556.
- [Dal93] G. Dal Maso. *An introduction to* Γ*-convergence*. Vol. 8. Basel: Birkhäuser, 1993, pp. xiv + 340.
- [DM75] C. Dellacherie & P.-A. Meyer. *Probabilités et potentiel. Chapitres I à IV*. Hermann, Paris, 1975, p. 291.
- [DM80] C. Dellacherie & P.-A. Meyer. *Probabilités et potentiel. Chapitres V à VIII: Théorie des martingales.* Hermann, Paris, 1980, pp. xiii+476.
- [DNS09] J. Dolbeault, B. Nazaret & G. Savaré. "A new class of transport distances between measures". In: *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations* 34.2 (2009), pp. 193–231. DOI: 10.1007/s00526-008-0182-5.
- [DS08] S. Daneri & G. Savaré. "Eulerian calculus for the displacement convexity in the Wasserstein distance". In: *SIAM J. Math. Anal.* 40.3 (2008), pp. 1104–1122. DOI: 10 . 1137/08071346X.
- [DS21] L. Dello Schiavo & K. Suzuki. Configuration spaces over singular spaces I. Dirichlet-Form and Metric Measure Geometry. 2021. arXiv: 2109.03192 [math.PR].
- [DS22] L. Dello Schiavo & K. Suzuki. *Configuration Spaces over Singular Spaces II. Curvature*. 2022. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.2205.01379.
- [DS88] N. Dunford & J. T. Schwartz. *Linear operators. Part I.* Wiley Classics Library. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., New York, 1988, pp. xiv+858.
- [DZ10] A. Dembo & O. Zeitouni. *Large deviations techniques and applications*. Vol. 38. Stochastic Modelling and Applied Probability. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2010, pp. xvi+396. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-642-03311-7.
- [EH15] M. Erbar & M. Huesmann. "Curvature bounds for configuration spaces". In: *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations* 54.1 (2015), pp. 397–430. DOI: 10.1007/s00526-014-0790-1.
- [EM12] M. Erbar & J. Maas. "Ricci curvature of finite Markov chains via convexity of the entropy". In: *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.* 206.3 (2012), pp. 997–1038. DOI: 10.1007/s00205-012-0554-z.
- [Erb14] M. Erbar. "Gradient flows of the entropy for jump processes". In: *Ann. Inst. Henri Poincaré Probab. Stat.* 50.3 (2014), pp. 920–945. DOI: 10.1214/12-AIHP537.
- [FM16] M. Fathi & J. Maas. "Entropic Ricci curvature bounds for discrete interacting systems". In: *Ann. Appl. Probab.* 26.3 (2016), pp. 1774–1806. DOI: 10.1214/15-AAP1133.
- [FSS09] S. Fang, J. Shao & K.-T. Sturm. "Wasserstein space over the Wiener space". In: *Probab. Theory Relat. Fields* 146.3–4 (2009), pp. 535–565. DOI: 10.1007/s00440-009-0199-5.

- [GHP21] N. Gozlan, R. Herry & G. Peccati. "Transport inequalities for random point measures". In: *J. Funct. Anal.* 281.9 (2021), Paper No. 109141, 45. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfa.2021.109141.
- [GRST14] N. Gozlan, C. Roberto, P.-M. Samson & P. Tetali. "Displacement convexity of entropy and related inequalities on graphs". In: *Probab. Theory Relat. Fields* 160.1-2 (2014), pp. 47–94. DOI: 10.1007/s00440-013-0523-y.
- [GRST17] N. Gozlan, C. Roberto, P.-M. Samson & P. Tetali. "Kantorovich duality for general transport costs and applications". In: *J. Funct. Anal.* 273.11 (2017), pp. 3327–3405. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfa.2017.08.015.
- [GT21] N. Gigli & L. Tamanini. "Second order differentiation formula on RCD*(*K*, *N*) spaces". In: *J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS)* 23.5 (2021), pp. 1727–1795. DOI: 10.4171/JEMS/1042.
- [Iof77] A. D. Ioffe. "On lower semicontinuity of integral functionals. I". In: *SIAM J. Control Optim.* 15 (1977), pp. 521–538. DOI: 10.1137/0315035.
- [Kal17] O. Kallenberg. *Random measures, theory and applications*. Vol. 77. Probability Theory and Stochastic Modelling. Springer, Cham, 2017, pp. xiii+694. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-41598-7.
- [Kal21] O. Kallenberg. *Foundations of modern probability*. Third. Vol. 99. Probability Theory and Stochastic Modelling. Springer, Cham, 2021, p. 946. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-61871-1.
- [KR61] M. A. Krasnosel'skiĭ & J. B. Rutickiĭ. *Convex functions and Orlicz spaces*. Translated from the first Russian edition by Leo F. Boron. P. Noordhoff Ltd., Groningen, 1961, pp. xi+249.
- [Las16] G. Last. "Stochastic analysis for Poisson processes". In: *Stochastic analysis for Poisson point processes*. Vol. 7. Bocconi Springer Ser. Bocconi Univ. Press, Milan, 2016, pp. 1–36. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-319-05233-5_1.
- [LP18] G. Last & M. Penrose. *Lectures on the Poisson process*. Vol. 7. Institute of Mathematical Statistics Textbooks. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2018, pp. xx+293.
- [LV09] J. Lott & C. Villani. "Ricci curvature for metric-measure spaces via optimal transport". In: *Ann. of Math.* (2) 169.3 (2009), pp. 903–991. DOI: 10.4007/annals.2009.169.903.
- [Maa11] J. Maas. "Gradient flows of the entropy for finite Markov chains". In: *J. Funct. Anal.* 261.8 (2011), pp. 2250–2292. DOI: 10.1016/j.jfa.2011.06.009.
- [Mie13] A. Mielke. "Geodesic convexity of the relative entropy in reversible Markov chains". In: *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations* 48.1-2 (2013), pp. 1–31. DOI: 10.1007/s00526-012-0538-8.
- [MR92] Z.-M. Ma & M. Röckner. *Introduction to the theory of (non-symmetric) Dirichlet forms.* Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 1992, pp. viii + 209.
- [OS16] H. Osada & T. Shirai. "Absolute continuity and singularity of palm measures of the Ginibre point process". In: *Probab. Theory Relat. Fields* 165.3-4 (2016), pp. 725–770. DOI: 10.1007/s00440-015-0644-6.
- [OV00] F. Otto & C. Villani. "Generalization of an inequality by Talagrand and links with the logarithmic Sobolev inequality". In: *J. Funct. Anal.* 173.2 (2000), pp. 361–400. DOI: 10.1006/jfan.2000.3557.
- [Par67] K. R. Parthasarathy. *Probability measures on metric spaces*. 1967.
- [PRST20] M. A. Peletier, R. Rossi, G. Savaré & O. Tse. *Jump processes as Generalized Gradient Flows*. 2020. arXiv: 2006.10624 [math.AP].
- [RS99] M. Röckner & A. Schied. "Rademacher's Theorem on Configuration Spaces and Applications". In: *J. Funct. Anal.* 169.2 (1999), pp. 325–356.
- [Stu06] K.-T. Sturm. "On the geometry of metric measure spaces. I and II". In: *Acta Math.* 196.1 (2006), pp. 65–177. DOI: 10.1007/s11511-006-0003-7.

- [Sur82] D. Surgailis. "On multiple Poisson stochastic integrals and associated Markov semi-groups". In: *Probab. Math. Stat.* 3 (1982), pp. 217–239.
- [Suz23] K. Suzuki. *Curvature bound of Dyson Brownian Motion*. 2023. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV. 2301.00262.
- [Vil09] C. Villani. *Optimal transport. Old and new.* Vol. 338. Springer, Berlin, 2009, pp. xxii + 973. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-71050-9.
- [Wu00] L. Wu. "A new modified logarithmic Sobolev inequality for Poisson point processes and several applications". In: *Probab. Theory Relat. Fields* 118.3 (2000), pp. 427–438.